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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. Werently own and/or operate a total of thirteen ladightclubs that offer live adt
entertainment, restaurant and bar operations. Soupclubs operate under the name "Rick's Cabatiette operate under the nan@uhb
Onyx”, upscale venues that welcome all customers but eafercially to urban professionals, businessmerpesfdssional athletes; and fi
of the clubs operate under the name "XTC". Our tuighs are in Houston, Austin and San Antonio, Bexaharlotte, North Carolin
Minneapolis, Minnesota; and New York, New York.Ntay 2006, we combined our sports bar under the nafiffelummers”and XTC a
same location and converted them into “Rick’s Sp@abaret”. We also own and operate premiere adtdrtainment Internet websites.

Our online entertainment sites abexPassword.com, CouplesTouch.com, and Naughty@&ids. The site xxxPassword.com features i
content licensed through Voice Media, Inc. Couptasdh.com is a personals site for those in the swintifestyle. Naughtybids.com is o
online adult auction site. It contains consurmiated auctions for items such as adult videaggparel, photo sets, adult paraphernalia
other erotica. There are typically approximately0ODD active auctions at this site at any given tilwe charge the seller a fee for €
successful auction. All of our sites use proprietsoftware platforms written by us to deliver thesbexperience to the user without b
constrained by off-the-shelf software solutions.

Our website address is www.ricks.coriVe make available free of charge our Annual ReporForm 10KSB, Quarterly Reports on Fo
10-QSB, Current Reports on FormK8-and all amendments to those reports as sooreasomably practicable after such materii
electronically filed with the SEC under Securitiégschange Act of 1934, as amended. Information doethin the website shall not
construed as part of this Form 10-KSB.

References to “us” or “the Company” include our #@6wned, 85%-owned and 51%-owned consolidated dialis.
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabaretli®83 in Houston, Texas, the topless nightclub iess was characterized by sr
establishments generally managed by their owneer&@ing policies of these establishments were déenthe sites were generally dimly
standards for performers' personal appearance enstrmlity were not maintained and it was custonfi@ryperformers to alternate betw
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and qualftbar service was low and food was not frequeaffered. Music was usually "hai
rock and roll, played at a loud level by a discke Usually, only cash was accepted. Many busineasfelt uncomfortable in su
environments. Recognizing a void in the market dofirst-class adult nightclub, we designed Rick's Cabaretatget the more afflue
customer by providing a unique quality entertainh@vironment. The following summarizes our arefagperation that distinguish us:
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Female Entertainment Our policy is to maintain high standards for bgihrsonal appearance and personality for the ts
entertainers and waitresses. Of equal importanaepisrformer's ability to present herself attragtivand to talk with customers. \
prefer that the performers we hire be experiencetters. We make a determination as to whethertecylar applicant is suitak
based on such factors of appearance, attitudes,dcesnmunication skills and demeanor. At all clubscept for our Minnesc
location, the entertainers are independent comtreicctVe do not schedule their work hours.

Management We often recruit staff from inside the toplesgustry, as well as from large restaurant and chairgs, in the belief th
management with experience in the sector addsrtalality to grow and attract quality entertainevdanagement with experience
able to train new recruits from outside the industr

Compliance Policies/EmployeesWVe have a policy of ensuring that our businessaisied on in conformity with local, state ¢
federal laws. In particular, we have a "no toleednmolicy as to illegal drug use in or around therpises. Posters placed throug!
the nightclubs reinforce this policy, as do pertodhannounced searches of the entertainers' lodketsrtainers and waitresses \
arrive for work are not allowed to leave the prazmisiithout the permission of management. If anrtiteer does leave the premi
she is not allowed to return to work until the nday. We continually monitor the behavior of erderérs, waitresses and custon
to ensure that proper standards of behavior arerobd.

Compliance Policies/Credit CardsWVe review all credit card charges made by outamers. We have in place a formal po
requiring that all credit card charges must be apgu, in writing, by management before any chaagesaccepted. Managemer
trained to review credit card charges to ensuretigonly charges approved for payment are fod faoink and entertainment.

Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the success of our m@drabtlult nightclubs is a quality, firstass bar and restaur
operation to compliment our adult entertainment. &gloy service managers who recruit and traingesibnal waitstaff and ensi
that each customer receives prompt and courteaugceeWe employ chefs with restaurant experier@er bar managers orc
inventory and schedule bar staff. We believe thatdperation of a first class restaurant is a rescgscomponent to the operation
premiere adult cabaret, as is the provision of juemwine, liquor and beer in order to ensure thatdustomer perceives and obt
good value. Our restaurant operations provide legsidunch buffets and full lunch and dinner menwise with hot and col
appetizers, salads, seafood, steak, and lobstegxtsmsive selection of quality wines is available.
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Controls. Operational and accounting controls are essematidle successful operation of a cash intensightaiub and bar busine
We have designed and implemented internal procedaral controls designed to ensure the integrityowf operational ar
accounting records. Wherever practicable, we sépananagement personnel from all cash handlindgpabrbanagement is isola
from and does not handle any cash. We use a cotitrinaf accounting and physical inventory contraéghanisms to maintair
high level of integrity in our accounting practicésformation technology plays a significant rakedapturing and analyzing a vari
of information to provide management with the imfiation necessary to efficiently manage and corbrelnightclub. Deposits
cash and credit card receipts are reconciled eaghala daily income report. In addition, we review a daily basis (i) cash &
credit card summaries which tie together all casth @edit card transactions occurring at the fisodr, the bars in the club and
cashier station, (ii) a summary of the daily batens' checlout reports, and (iii) a daily cash requirementalysis which reconcile
the previous day's cash on hand to the requirenfenthe next day's operations. These daily compggorts alert management
any variances from expected financial results basekiistorical norms. We conduct a monthly indemeriaverview of our financi
condition and operating results.

Atmosphere We maintain a high design standard in our faediend decor. The furniture and furnishings inrttgtclubs create tl
feeling of an upscale restaurant. The sound sygt@vides quality sound at levels at which convéosat can still take place. T
environment is carefully monitored for music selatt entertainer and waitress appearance and fadices of customer service o
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on serving the ujgmet of the businessmen's market, some of our nigigtdnclude
VIP room, which is open to individuals who purchasemberships. A VIP room provides a higher levederivice and luxury.

Advertising and PromotionOur consumer marketing strategy is to positiockRi Cabarets as premiere entertainment facilitie
provide exceptional topless entertainment in a f&@h discreet, environment. We use a variety ofilyigargeted methods to reach
customers: hotel publications, local radio, cablewision, newspapers, billboards, taab reader boards, and the Internet, as w
a variety of promotional campaigns. These campaggssire that the Rick's Cabaret name is kept bétferpublic.
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Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amoumedia exposure over the years in national magsaneh as Playboy, Penthol
Glamour Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time &atge, Time Out New York, and Texas Monthly MagaziBegments abc
Rick's have aired on national and local televigomagrams such as “20/20"Extra" and "Inside Edition", and we have provi
entertainers for Pay-P&fiew features as well. Business stories about Ri€ldbaret have appeared in The Wall Street JouFhe
New York Times, The New York Post, Los Angeles Tanidouston Business Journal, and numerous othemi@gublications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name “Ricldbatet’in Houston, San Antonio, and Austin, Texas, Minradigp Minnesota, and Ne
York, New York. We also operate nightclubs in Hauss Galleria District and San Antonio, Texas, &tthrlotte, North Carolina, atub
Onyx”, upscale venues that welcome all customers but agpecially to urban professionals, businessmen mntessional athlete
Additionally, we own four nightclubs in San Antonidustin, and Houston, Texas that operate underndmae XTC. We also own
controlling interest in and operate a sports cabaaked “Rick’s Sports CabaretWWe sold our New Orleans nightclub in March 199%; ik
continues to use the name “Rick’s Cabaret” undereasing agreement.

RECENT NIGHTCLUB TRANSACTIONS

1. On January 18, 2005, our wholly-owned subsidiarg!l FEntertainment (New York), Inc. (“RCI New York™a New Yort
corporation, completed the acquisition of Peregkméerprises, Inc. (“Peregrine’a New York corporation, pursuant to which |
New York agreed to purchase all of the shares ofraon stock of Peregrine. Peregrine owned and agebi@at adult entertainme
cabaret located in midtown Manhattan. The clutbeated near the Empire State Building and Madispma& Garden, and is |
than 10 blocks from Times Square.

Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreemempuichase price of the transaction was $7,625@9ble $2,500,000 in casl
closing and $5,125,000 payable in a promissory besring simple interest at the rate of 4.0% pewan The Promissory Note
payable commencing 120 days after Closing as falq@&) the payment of $58,333.33 per month for tyour (24) consecutiy
months; (b) the payment of $63,333.33 for tweiotyr (24) consecutive months; (c) the payment d8,$83.33 for twelve (1.
consecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymentefémaining balance to be paid on the sfigt-(61st) month. $2,000,000
the principal amount of the Promissory Note is @tible into shares of our restricted common staic@rices ranging from $4.00
$7.50 per share. The parties also entered a Stedg®Agreement and Security Agreement to secer®tbmissory Note.
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Upon closing of the transaction, the owners of §éne entered into a fivgear covenant not to compete with Peregrine, RGl/
York or the Company. After an extensive renovatier,opened the club in September 2005 as "Rickmr@d'. It occupies 10,0
square feet on three levels, with an additionad@ $quare feet available for office space.

The results of operations of the club are incluiteolur consolidated statement of operations fronuday 18, 2005.

Through October 4, 2006, the holder of the prommissote converted $2,000,000 of principal from thkted promissory note ir
360,000 shares of the Company’s common stock.

2. On March 31, 2005, we entered an Stock Purchaseefggnt with MBG Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware lindtéiability company t
sell all of the issued and outstanding shares df R@ertainment (Houston), Inc., our wholly ownagbsidiary, which owned ai
operated an adult entertainment cabaret known ek’'sRCabaret -South located at 15301 Gulf Freeway, Houston, TeXas
Agreement provided for a sales price of $550,00tickvwas paid in cash upon closing. W e recordgdima of $291,987.

The clubs business was accounted for as discontinued dgesatnder accounting principles generally acceptdtie United Statt
of America and therefore, the club’s results ofragiens and cash flows have been removed from trepganys consolidated resu
of continuing operations and cash flows for allipés presented in this document.

3. On June 10, 2005, our wholly owned subsidiary, E@fertainment (North Carolina), Inc. (“‘RCI North1@Gbna”), a North Carolin
corporation entered into a Purchase Agreement Wi Shelf Entertainment LLC (“Top Shelf"y North Carolina limited liabilit
company and Tony Hege (“Hege”), the holder of Tdel8s membership interests, to purchase all of theetssand outstandil
membership interests of Top Shelf which owned adteigb known as “The Manhattan Clulgcated in Charlotte, North Carolil
RCI North Carolina managed the Club under the ndRik’s Cabaret” since February 2005.

The Purchase Agreement provides for a purchase pfi§1,000,000 which is payable with 180,000 shafeour common stock (t
“Shares”) valued at $3.75 per shdréhe “Value of the Shares”) and a seven year pramysaote (the “Note”)in the amount ¢
$325,000 bearing interest at the rate of 7% peueniThe Note is payable with an initial payment tlevember 1, 2005, of inter
only for the period of time from the date of Claginntil October 31, 2005, plus a principal reduttigayment in the amount
$3,009.29. Thereafter, RCI North Carolina will maghtythree (83) successive equal monthly payments comimgmecember
2005, of principal and interest in the amount o®$85.12 until paid in full. The Note is securedtbg assets of RCI North Carolina.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Note, on or after Wdwer 1, 2005, Hege shall have the right, but netdhligation to have Rick’
purchase from Hege 4,285 Shares per month (the thiioishares”),calculated at a price per share equal to $3.75 Hetje ha
received a total of $1,000,000 from the sale of$hares less the amount of the Note. At our elediaring any given month, \
may either buy the Monthly Shares or, if we elaatt to buy the Monthly Shares from Hege, then Hegadl sell the Monthly Shar
in the open market. Any deficiency between the amathich Hege receives from the sale of the Mongityres and the Value of
Shares shall be paid by us within three (3) daythefdate of sale of the Monthly Shares during gaaticular month. Our obligatit
to purchase the Monthly Shares from Hege shalliteata and cease at such time as Hege has recetetal af $1,000,000 from tl
sale of the Shares, less the amount of the Note.diligation was satisfied on May 11, 2006 whdrskhres had been sold for m
than $675,000.

The results of operations of the club are includtedur consolidated statement of operations frorbrary 1, 2005, when v
assumed risk of loss for the club’s operations nad@management agreement.

Subsequent to fiscal year end, on December 14, 2096onverted this club into “Club Onyx Charlotte”

4, On May 9, 2006, we purchased Joint Ventures, bt.operator of an adult nightclub in South Housttexas, formerly known :
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HauBbed. The purchase price of $840,000 was paichsh. The club, located il
Houston suburb, has been converted to an XTC Cabare

5. On July 7, 2006, we entered into a stock purchgeeeanent to acquire Texas S&l, Inc., a Texas ceupmr, for $125,000, consisti
of $55,000 paid in cash at closing and $70,000 fiveayear note payable bearing interest at a 0a#% per annum. The note v
paid off in full. Texas S&l, Inc. owned and opexhlub Exotica in San Antonio. We have convertad tfub into ‘Club Onyx Sa
Antonio”.

6. On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Debit Szsj Inc., acquired 99% of the ownership interasan adult entertainme
cabaret known as “Centerfoldifcated at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, T.eXdditionally, under the terms of the transact
our subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. acquired 100%taf interest in the improved real property uponcwiCenterfolds is located. T
total purchase price for the business and realgrtppvas $2,900,000. Under terms of the agreemenpaid the owners of the cl
and property $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory notes for the remainingriza. In addition, certe
members of the current ownership structure entarfage-year covenant not to compete with us.
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7. Subsequent to our fiscal year end, on NovembeQ06, we purchased a 51% ownership interest ofnitg/'s Gentlemes’ Clut
LLC, an operator of an adult nightclub in AustirexXBs. The club is located at 8110 Springdale Stfaedtin, Texas. The purchz
price of $1,500,000 was paid $500,000 cash at mjosind 125,000 shares of our restricted commorkstblee club has be:
converted to a “Rick’s Austin”As part of the agreement, twelve months after tbsing date, the seller has the right, but no
obligation, to have us buy the shares at a pricB8dJ0 per share at a rate of no more than 5,08@skper month until such time
the seller receives a total of $1,000,000 fromghle of such shares. Alternatively, the sellerthasoption to sell such shares in
open market. The transaction was the result of -4emgth negotiations between the parties.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT W EB SITES

In 1999, we began adult Internet Web site operatio@ur xxxPassword.com website features adult cortesised through Voice Med
Inc. We added€ouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a dating site catédnbose in the swinging lifestyle. We recently ghased CouplesClick.n
a competing site of our CouplesTouch.com siterdeoto broaden our membership throughout the drfiiates. As part of this transact
we organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which opeyaas an addition to our internet operations, dquie CouplesClick.net fro
ClickMatch, LLC. We transferred our ownership inuptesTouch.com to RCI Dating and, as a result efttansaction, we obtained an €&
interest in RCI Dating, with the remaining 15% owr®y ClickMatch.

Our Internet traffic is generated through the pasghof traffic from thirdsarty adult sites or Internet domain owners andpihehase ¢
banner advertisements or "key word" searches frierriet search engines. In addition, the bulk aftaffic now comes from search engi
on which we don't pay for preferential listings.erk are numerous adult entertainment sites omteenket that compete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SIT ES

Our adult auction site features erotica and otldefitanaterials that are purchased in a &s#- method. We charge the seller a fee for
successful auction. Where previously we operated isdividual auctions sites, now we have combinéésé into one main si
NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name redagniof this site. The site contains new and usédltaoriented consumer initiat
auctions for items such as adult videos, appateltgsets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBidsapasoximately 10,000 items for sale
any given time. NaughtyBids.com offers third pawgbmasters an opportunity to create residual incého web surfers through t
NaughtyBids Affiliate Program, which pays third pawebmasters a percentage of every closing austida in which the buyer origina
came from the affiliate webmaster's site. Therenaraerous auction sites on the Internet that affledt products and erotica.
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TRANSACTION WITH VOICE MEDIA

In May 2002, we purchased 700,000 shares of ouranmmmon stock from Voice Media, Inc. for an aggtegaice of $918,700 (or $795,&
adjusted for imputed interest) that equals appresety $1.32 per share. That purchase price wasabalarket value on the date of
purchase. Voice Media, Inc. presently owns noneuwfshares of common stock. These shares are fyebeld as treasury shares. We 1
cancel these shares at a later date. The contrebpef Voice Media, Inc. is Ron Levi, who was adgtor until June 2002. The terms of
transaction were the result of artesigth negotiations between Voice Media, Inc. asdWe believe the transaction was favorable ton
view of the market value of our common stock arel payment terms, although no appraisal or fairegasion was done. All managem
contracts previously signed relating to the managenoef xxxPassword.com will remain in effect. Pansuto the transaction, the purct
price was to be paid in four annual installment® pdid off this note in full during fiscal year 200

TRANSACTION WITH TAURUS ENTERTAINMENT

On June 12, 2003, we entered into an Asset Purdkgrgment with Taurus Entertainment Companies, (fffl@urus”), whereby we acquire
all the assets and liabilities of Taurus in excheafay 3,752,008 shares of Taurus out of the 4,@®{Bat we owned plus $20,000 in cash.
also executed an Indemnification and TransactianAgreement with Taurus for which we received $2@0,in cash, with $140,000 paya
at closing, $60,000 due on July 15, 2003 and $T0¢di@ on August 15, 2003. We have received the0$60payment and have restructt
the remaining balance originally due August 15,200ith a note receivable bearing 12% annual istevger a five year term. The note
collateralized by 3,000,000 shares of Taurus, noemin as Bluestar Health, Inc. (“BluestarTaurus is not current in its payment obliga
and we have initiated steps to collect the amounn@. We foreclosed on the collateralized share&ugust 2006. As such, we presently «
the shares and can sell them in the open market.v@itue of the shares currently totals approxinga$®d!50,000, based on market pric
September 30, 2006. We intend to achieve colldititgither through repurchase of the shares byeBtar or by selling the shares in the ¢
market or in a private transaction. Legal counseluf has been in discussions with legal counsdlisestar regarding the existing obligat
of Bluestar to us and the possible resolution & tibligation by the acquisition of the shares ByeBtar or by another third party. Furtl
legal counsel has been in discussions with a tharty regarding the private sale of the sharess@loiscussions are ongoing. We believe
further discussions with these separate partiesnesylt in the private sale of the shares in anuarhto recover the outstanding amount
under the note receivable.
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COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment businessgilfhicompetitive with respect to price, service dmchtion. All of our nightclubs compe
with a number of locally owned adult clubs, somentfose names may have name recognition that etheatiof Rick's Cabaret or XT
While there may be restrictions on the locatioraafoealled "sexually oriented business”, there are aidrs to entry into the adult cab:
entertainment market. For example, there are appaigly 50 adult nightclubs located in the Houstmea, all of which are in dire
competition with our Houston cabarets. In Minne&gdRick's Cabaret is favorably located downtowd ena short walk from the Metrodol
Stadium and the Target Center. There are two anglittclubs in Minneapolis in direct competition witis. In Charlotte, there are 2
competitors. We are centrally located with easyeasdo our location from the airport and the spstdgium. There are approximately 16 a
clubs in Manhattan of which 7 compete with RickOnly one of those competitors’ is located in MidtoviRick’s location is one block fro
the Empire State Building and one block from MadiSmuare Garden. Amtrak and local commuter traave Istation stops within one blc
of Rick’s location at Penn Station and we are locateddjiddcks from Times Square. There are 7 adult cinl#sustin and 9 in San Antor
that are in direct competition with our clubs. QRick’s Austin is located at Springdale in betweegtivay 290 and the new130 (Austir
By-pass). We anticipate a significant increaseaffit when the construction on 1-130 is complet@dr Rick’'s San Antonio is located aB%
in the northern part of the city.

The names "Rick's" and "Rick's Cabaret", "XTC Cabaand “Club Onyx"are proprietary. We believe that the combinatiomwf existin
brand name recognition and the distinctive entemt&int environment that we have created will allataicompete effectively in the indus
and within the cities where we operate. Althoughbebeve that we are well positioned to competessisfully, there can be no assurance
we will be able to maintain our high level of nareeognition and prestige within the marketplace.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and lleeed affecting our business activities. In particuin Texas the authority to issue a perrr
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the Texashbdlic Beverage Commission (“TABC"hich has the authority, in its discretion
issue the appropriate permits. We presently hoMixed Beverage Permit and a Late Hour Permit. ThHeeamits are subject to ann
renewal, provided we have complied with all ruled aegulations governing the permits. Renewal pémamit is subject to protest, which n
be made by a law enforcement agency or by the qulplithe event of a protest, the TABC may holdearing at which time the views
interested parties are expressed. The TABC hasulieority after such hearing not to issue a renesfiahe protested alcoholic bever.
permit. Rick's has never been the subject of aeptdiearing against the renewal of Permits. Mintaeddorth Carolina, and New York he
similar laws that may limit the availability of @pnit to sell alcoholic beverages or that may pevior suspension or revocation of a pe
to sell alcoholic beverages in certain circumstanttds our policy, prior to expanding into anywnenarket, to take steps to ensure compli
with all licensing and regulatory requirementstfog sale of alcoholic beverages as well as thea$dteod.
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In addition to various regulatory requirements ctffeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in Housamd, in many other cities, the location
topless cabaret is subject to restriction by ciyimance. Topless nightclubs in Houston, Texassabgect to "The Sexually Oriented Busir
Ordinance", which contains prohibitions on the tama of an adult cabaret. The prohibitions dealegally with distance from schoc
churches, and other sexually oriented businessksartain restrictions based on the percentagesidences within the immediate vicinity
the sexually oriented business. The granting oéxu8lly Oriented Business Permit is not subjedliszretion; the Business Permit mus
granted if the proposed operation satisfies thairements of the Ordinance. (See “Legal Proceeding=in.)

In Minneapolis, we are required to be in compliangth state and city liquor licensing laws. Ourdtion in Minneapolis is presently zonet
enable the operation of a topless cabaret. We weglaintiff in civil litigation against the defendaCity of Minneapolis. On September
2003, the suit was settled mainly on the basis tt&a(City of Minneapolis will enact a late hosioperation ordinance and allows qualify
liquor establishments, including us at our curdecttion, to operate until 3:00 a.m. We believet timthe long run, the restoration of |
hours operation on a permanent basis is prefetalgeing forward with the litigation and in our bésterest.

In San Antonio and Austin, Texas, we are requiethe in compliance with city or county sexuallyemtied business ordinances. In I
York, we are required to be in compliance withstfite and local laws governing the sale of liquad aoning for adult oriented busines
We feel we are in compliance with these laws a thme. In Charlotte we are required to be in cdamge with city or county sexua
oriented business ordinances.

TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the trademarks "Rick's" and "Rickab@ret" are established under common law, based oposubstantial and continuous
of these trademarks in interstate commerce sindeast as early as 1987. We have registered owuiceemark, 'RICK'S AND STAR
DESIGN", with the United States Patent and Trad&n@ifice. We have also obtained service mark regfisins from the Patent a
Trademark Office for the "RICK'S CABARET" serviceark. There can be no assurance that the steps wveethleen to protect our serv
marks will be adequate to deter misappropriation.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2006, we had approximately &Bfployees, of which 94 are in management positiomduding corporate ai
administrative and Internet operations and appratéty 466 of which are engaged in entertainmerdd fand beverage service, incluc
bartenders, waitresses, and entertainers. Noneroéraployees are represented by a union. We cansideemployee relations to be gc
Additionally, as of September 30, 2006, we had jrethelent contractor relationships with more than 8@@rtainers, who are safployel
and perform at our locations on a nexclusive basis as independent contractors. Ougrtaiiers in Minneapolis, Minnesota act
commissioned employees.
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SHARE REPURCHASES

As of September 30, 2006 we owned 908,530 treasiiayes of our common stock that we acquired in aparket purchases and fr
investors who originally acquired the shares frairuprivate transactions. At this time, we do nate any plan to use these shares to ac
any assets.

On September 16, 2003, our board of directors aizémb us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofcmanmon stock. No shares have t
purchased under this program.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is located at 1095@ten Road, Houston, Texas 77066 which consists 000 square feet office/warehc
building. We purchased this property in Decembd2for $512,739, payable with $86,279 cash at otpsind $426,460 in a promissory r
carrying 7% interest and a 15 year term. The mgnglayment is $3,834. As of September 30, 2006,bdance of the mortgage v
$396,477. The last mortgage payment is due in 20f9believe that our offices are adequate for sasgnt needs and that suitable space
be available to accommodate our future needs.

We own four locations of Rick's Cabaret (two in dtmn, one in San Antonio, and one in Minneapol@&yb Onyx Houston, and the t
locations of XTC (one in Austin and one in San And). We own the property where Encounters clubHouston is located which is
currently under lease to Tantric Enterprises, M lease XTC South, XTC North, Club Onyx San AntoriRick's New York, Ricks
Charlotte, and Rick’s Austin locations.

CLUB PROPERTIES WE OWN:

1. Club Onyx, located on Bering Drive in Houston, lasaggregate 12,300 square feet of space. In Dexe2004, we paid off the ¢
mortgage and obtained a new one with initial badaot $1,270,000 and interest rate of 10% per anauen a 10 year term. T
money received from this new note was used to fieghe acquisition of the New York club. As of Sapber 30, 2006, the balai
of the mortgage was $1,233,766. During fiscal y&06, we paid $12,256 in monthly principal and et payments. The montl
payment is calculated based on a 20 year amodizathedule. The last mortgage payment is dueib.20
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2.

The Rick's Cabaret, located on North Belt DriveHauston, has 12,000 square feet of space. In Noge2b04, we obtained
mortgage using this property as collateral. Thegipial balance of the new mortgage is $1,042,0Gth an annual interest rate
10% over a 10 year term. The money received framrtbw note was used to finance the acquisitiothefNew York club. As ¢
September 30, 2006, the balance of the mortgage$®®40,651. The monthly payment of principal antriest is $10,056. T
monthly payment is calculated based on a 20 yeartazation schedule. The last mortgage paymentiésid 2014.

The Rick's Cabaret, located in Minneapolis, hagd® square feet of space. The balance, as of Sbete30, 2006, that we owed
the mortgage is $1,941,917 and the interest ré3@&isWe pay $22,732 in monthly principal and inségayments. The last mortgi
payment is due in 2008 with a balloon payment q¥$4,432.

The XTC nightclub in Austin has 8,600 square feesmace, which sits on 1.2 acres of land. In Au@@f5, we restructured t
mortgage by extending the term to 10 years. Tharal of the mortgage that we owed as of Septenthe20®6 is $234,274 with
interest rate of 11% and monthly principal andriesé payments of $3,445. In November 2004, we nbthan additional mortgay
The principal balance of the new mortgage is $900,Wvith an annual interest rate of 11% over a &@ryerm. In June and J
2005, we obtained additional funds in the amour$290,000. In August 2005 we combined the additifurads into the $900,0(
mortgage. The money received from this new note wssl to finance the acquisition and renovatiothefNew York club. Th
monthly principal and interest payment is $15,084.0f September 30, 2006, the balance of the mgetgeas $1,022,306. The |
payments for both mortgages are due in 2015.

We own XTC nightclub in San Antonio, which has Q&@uare feet of space. In November 2004, we addagnmortgage using tl
property as collateral. The principal balance eftlew mortgage is $590,000, with an annual inteegstof 10% over a 10 year te
The money received from this new note was usethtmé€e the acquisition and renovation of the NewkYaub. As of Septemb
30, 2006, the balance of this mortgage was $572,Z6@ monthly principal and interest payment is69$8, The last mortga
payment is due in 2014.

The property where Encounters is located has 8sg0@are feet of space. In December 2004, we paitheffmortgage we previou:
had. In November 2004, together with property instiy this property was used as additional col&tér secure the $900,C
mortgage above. Beginning November 2004, we begagiving a monthly lease payment from Tantric Emises, Inc. in th
amount of $4,000 for this space.
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7.

10.

Our subsidiary, Citation Land LLC, owns a 3&€re ranch in Brazoria County, Texas. The balascaf &eptember 30, 2005 that
owed on the Brazoria County ranch mortgage was 898%nd the interest rate was 9%. During fiscal 906, we paid $2,573
monthly principal and interest payments. A ballgaryment of $287,920 was paid in March 2006.

Our subsidiary, Citation Land LLC, owned approxietpats0 acres of raw land in Wise County, Texas. baknce as of Septem
30, 2006 that we owed on the Wise County raw landgage was $139,157 with an interest rate of 188 paid $1,537 in month
principal and interest payments. Subsequent talfigear end, on October 11, 2006, we sold theseepties for $165,000, which w
the amount we had recorded for such propertieepteghber 30, 2006, after recording a $68,134 impait charge at Septem
2006. The proceeds were used to pay off the mogtgag

On April 5, 2006, our wholly owned subsidiary, R@bldings, Inc. completed the acquisition of reapmrty located at 9009 Airp«
Blvd., Houston, Texas where we currently operatekRi Sports Cabaret (previously Hummers Sports BarXdand South clubs
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we paidah gales price of $1,300,000 which consisted 5f08000 in cash and 160,(
shares of our restricted common stock.

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Holdings;. lacquired 100% of the interest in the improveal property upon which o
Rick’s San Antonio is located. The total purchase pficethe business and real property was $2,900,Q0@ler terms of tr
agreement, the Company paid the owners of theardbproperty $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory na
for the remaining balance.

CLUB PROPERTIES WE LEASE:

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, whereXd® North is located. The lease term is for fiveagge beginning March 20(
with an additional fiveyear lease option thereafter. The monthly ren8i®@0 until August 31, 2006, at which time the nibnbas:
rent increases to $9,000.

We lease the property in New York City, New Yorkyeve our Ricks Cabaret NYC is located. We assumed the existagel whic
will terminate in April 2023. The monthly rent i€ $,469 until May 2007, at which time the monthlysbaent increases to $42,7
Under the term of the existing lease, the basewéhincrease by approximately 3% each year.

We lease the property in Charlotte, North Carolimhere our Ricks Cabaret Charlotte is located. Subsequent tol figea end, o
December 14, 2006, we converted this club into @ulyx Charlotte. We assumed the existing leasechwhill terminate in Jur
2009, with an additional fivgear lease option thereafter. The monthly ren2& @00 until July 2007, at which time the monthést
rent will increase to $23,000.
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4, We lease the property in South Houston, Texas, evloewr XTC South is located. The lease term is forestynine months
beginning May 1, 2006. The monthly rent is $3,000the first forty-three months and $3,500 theeyaft

5. We lease the property in San Antonio, Texas, wbareClub Onyx is located. The lease term is foe fpears, beginning July 1, 20
with monthly rent of $5,000.

6. Subsequent to our fiscal year end, we leased thgepty in Austin, Texas, where our RiskAustin is located. The lease term is fo
years, beginning November 10, 2006, with monthlynpants of $29,000. We also have the option to refeeanother ten year

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS ORDINANCE OF HOUSTON, MAS

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofudton passed a comprehensive new Ordinance rewuldte location of and the cond
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the “Ordindnhc€&he Ordinance established new minimum distancesually Oriented Busines:
may be located from schools, churches, playgrowars other sexually oriented businesses. There wererovisions in the Ordinan
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance 9871 we were informed that one of
Houston locations at 3113 Bering Drive failed toetnhe requirements of the Ordinance and accorgliogt renewal of our Business Lice
at the location was denied.

The Ordinance provided that a business which wagde renewal of its operating permit due to cleang distance requirements undel
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafior a period of time (the “Amortization Periodf)the owner were unable to recoup,
the effective date of the Ordinance, its investmianthe business that was incurred through the détine passage and approval of
Ordinance.

We filed a request with the City of Houston requestan extension of time during which operationsoat north Houston facility cou
continue under the Amortization Period provisiofshe Ordinance since we were unable to recougro@stment prior to the effective d
of the Ordinance. An administrative hearing wasltsl the City of Houston to determine the apprdpriamortization Period to be grantec
us. At the Hearing, we were granted an amortizagieriod that has since been reached. We have ghe to appeal any decision of

Hearing official to the district court in the StatETexas.
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In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitodility of the entire Ordinance w
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the Wstrict Court for the Southern District of Texds$puston Division, struck down certi
provisions of the Ordinance, including the prousimandating a 1,500 foot distance between a cldbsahools, churches and other sext
oriented businesses, leaving intact the provisiah® 750 foot distance as it existed prior to @rdinance.

The City of Houston has appealed the District Ceumilings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. the event that the City of Houstor
successful in the appeal, we could be out of caampk and such an outcome could have an adversetiopaur future at such locations. ¢
nightclub in our south Houston location has a vakdmit/license that expired in December 2006. péenits for our north Houston locati
and our Bering Drive location have expired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texatifance, such as provisions governing the levdéibating in a sexually oriented busine
the distance between a customer and dancer whglgdhcer is performing in a state of undress aogigions regarding the licensing
dancers and club managers that were upheld byotlne which may be detrimental to our business. Wepncert with other sexually orien
businesses, are appealing those aspects of theahodi.

In November 2003, a three judge panel from thénFZfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opinivhich affirmed the Trial Cours ruling
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer isgjmm distances and licensing of dancers and. staE Court of Appeals, however, did
follow the Trial Courts ruling regarding the distance from which a cludyrbe located from a church or school. The CouAmbeals hel
that a distance measurement of 1,500 feet wouldpbeld upon a showing by the City of Houston tlsiclaims that there were alterna
sites available for relocating clubs could be saisated. The case was remanded for trial otisthees of the alternative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could eaditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whiedre not decided at the trial level dur
the initial phase of the case. It is anticipateat these technical issues will be joined in thall@ourt. The City has not sought to modify
of the terms of the injunction against enforcenwadrany location provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Gorutings in 1998 has been exhausted. Under thiirfgpbf the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, |
City of Houston has the burden of proof to showt,thiader the distance measurements contained id38& ordinance, there are alten
sites available for relocation. The trial commenoaddecember 4, 2006. A decision from the Trial €@inot anticipated until some time
2007. In the event the City of Houston can medbutslen and prevails at trial, we would appeal thlhg. The effect of any potential adve
ruling on our operations in Houston is unknown. &dverse ruling would affect all sexually orientagsinesses in Houston. In that event
would change our method of operations to requireentiertainers to wear latex and bikini bottoms.il/management believes this poter
change will not have a meaningful effect on ourrafiens, as the effect would be to all similarljuated businesses, the effect is unknow
is possible an adverse ruling may allow for add#iloccompetition in the Houston market.
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OTHER LEGAL MATTERS

On October 6, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the $2%dicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-Cl-15656 and
styled Edward Jimenez, et al v. Rick’s Cabaret Internationinc., et al. This is a wrongful death and personal injury eaa$ action
against two individuals, based upon negligencertbepand against us and our co-defendants, athath are now our subsidiaries, based
upon alleged “dram shop” violations, arising out aftwo-vehicle collision on August 1, 2006. Thelisan occurred prior to our
acquiring Spiros Partners Ltd. Spiros Partners aiechs and operates our Rick’s San Antonio. Pldmiifclude the parents - one of whom
was driving - of the two juvenile decedents, onettid decedent’s minor siblings and another minadidchoth of whom were also
passengers in the car that was struck by the allggatoxicated defendant driver. Plaintiffs arekimg unspecified damages for past and
future physical pain and suffering, mental anguishysical impairment, loss of companionship andsecotium, funeral and medical
expenses, property damages, and exemplary damages.

Management believes that we are not liable for @finthe damages and that they are covered by tHe tsabor” provision set forth in
Section 106.14 of the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Cedech provides that certain compliant establishteare not liable for the acts of
their patrons. There does exist insurance covdi@ghis claim, although this insurance does natec@any exemplary damages awarded,
nor those amounts beyond its limits. Managementdeaged any liability for this accident and is vigosly defending the lawsuit, which
is presently in the beginning stages of the disgopeocess with a preliminary motion to dismiss tefoour subsidiaries having been
denied.

On June 2, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the #3ludicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-CIl-08592 and
styledRichard P. Branson v. Spiros Partner,Ltd. dba TleatRouse Club This action occurred prior to our acquiring SpiRartners Ltd.
Spiros Partners Ltd. owns and operates our Rickis Sntonio. This was a fraud, assault, abuse ofgs®, invasion of privacy and
slander action based upon the plaintiff's allegatioat the Club intentionally took advantage of asdaulted him while he was there on
July 3, 2004, then subsequently was responsibldifomalicious prosecution by the Bexar County mistAttorney. Plaintiff sought
unspecified damages for past and future physical @ad suffering, mental anguish, physical disahilfinancial injury and exemplary
damages.

Management does not believe it is liable for anythef damages. There was no insurance coveragédoadis complained of by the
plaintiff. Management denied any liability for tleeallegations and vigorously defended the laws$dit.December 13, 2006, our motion
for summary judgment (based upon the plaintiff hguio evidence to support any of his contentiores) granted in full. The plaintiff has
30 days to appeal.
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On April 7, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the BQudicial District Court of Harris County, Texasyletl Cause No. 2004-1851Charity Rene
Stevens, et al. vs. Lazaro Ernesto Alfonso, et Hhis is a wrongful death and personal injury @ttagainst two individuals based
negligence theories and five entertainment estabksts including us based on alleged “dram shopfations arising from a twoai
collision. Plaintiffs have also sued Ford Motor Guany under a theory of products liability. Plaifgiinclude the children of the deceden
minor passenger and the mothers of the deceddaistifs are seeking unspecified damages inclugihgsical pain and suffering, mer
anguish, pecuniary loss, past and future loss afpamionship and consortium, loss of mental andlédial function, past and futt
physical impairment, reduction in earning capaditgreased education costs and expenses includimegdl and medical costs. Subseque
fiscal year end, the case was settled on Decenmhe2QD6 (subject to courts approval), which we recorded as accrued liagdiand othe
expense in September 2006.

One of our locations is currently being investigaly the Equal Employment Opportunity CommissioBEOC”) as the result of two (
complaints which were filed with the EEOC by fornmmnployees. The complaints are that male employese used to replace fem
employees in certain positions at the particulabdbcation. We have provided the EEOC with thearials and information requested.
have fully cooperated with the investigation. Adiing by the EEOC is not anticipated until 2007.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

We held our Annual Meeting of Shareholders on M3y Z006. The results of the meeting have beenatiedl in our quarterly report Fo
10-QSB for the period ending June 30, 2006.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND SMALL
BUSINESS ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ SmallCarkdt under the symbol "RICK". The following taldets forth the quarterly hi
and low of sales prices per share for the commuekdbr the last two fiscal years.

17




Table of Content

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW

Fiscal 2006

First Quarter $ 3.8¢ $ 2.9:2
Second Quarter $ 6.2C $ 3.7¢
Third Quarter $ 74C $ 5.3C
Fourth Quarter $ 797 $ 6.0¢
Fiscal 2005

First Quarter $ 3.0 $ 2.2C
Second Quarter $ 461 $ 2.8t
Third Quarter $ 3.1¢ $ 2.6t
Fourth Quarter $ 358 §$ 2.7

On December 15, 2006, the last sales price focéinemon stock as reported on the NASDAQ SmallCapkbtavas $5.27. On December
2006, there were approximately 1,480 stockholdérsaord of the common stock.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for our commoaoksi® American Stock Transfé& Trust Company, 59 Maiden Lane, New York, New Y
10038.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid, and do not currently intend tp gash dividends on our common stock in the foraiskeefuture. Our current policy is
retain all earnings, if any, to provide funds f@eocation and expansion of our business. The dearaf dividends, if any, will be subject
the discretion of the Board of Directors, which nw@pnsider such factors as our results of operafinancial condition, capital needs ¢

acquisition strategy, among others.

On September 16, 2003, our board of directors aizémb us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofcommon stock. No shares have
purchased under this program.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth all equity compeisaplans as of September 30, 2006:

Number of securities remaining
Number of securities to be available for future issuance
issued upon exercise of ~ Weighted-average exercise price under equity compensation
outstanding options, warrants of outstanding options, warrants  plans (excluding securities

and rights and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 727,500 $2.70 8,000

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' feaswe pay the expenses of our directors in attendoard meetings. In May 2006, we iss
10,000 stock options to each Director who is a mamalth our Audit Committee and 5,000 options to otlrer Directors. These options ha

strike price of $6.75 per share and expire in May12
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting anairiety qualified personnel, we believe that ounufatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfiedi personnel. We pay wages and salaries thabelieve are competitive. We also beli
that equity ownership is an important factor in aibility to attract and retain skilled personnele \Wave adopted stock option plans
“Plans”) for employees and directors. The purpose of thasPig to further our interests, our subsidiaried aar stockholders by providi
incentives in the form of stock options to key eaygles and directors who contribute materially to success and profitability. The gre
recognize and reward outstanding individual perfomoes and contributions and will give such persarmoprietary interest in us, tt
enhancing their personal interest in our continsieetess and progress. The Plans also assist waiasdbsidiaries in attracting and retair
key employees and directors. The Plans are admieistoy the Board of Directors. The Board of Dioesthas the exclusive power to se
the participants in the Plans, to establish the$eof the options granted to each participant, idexy that all options granted shall be gra
at an exercise price equal to at least 85% ofdivenfarket value of the common stock covered byoihtgon on the grant date and to mak
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

In August 1999 we adopted the 1999 Stock Optiom Rilae “1999 Plan”with 500,000 shares authorized to be granted altiwswer th
1999 Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approvedimendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmemifich increased the total numbel
shares authorized to 1,000,000. As of Septembe2@5, 727,500 stock options are presently outstgnander the 1999 Plan, with 194!
of which have been exercised during the fiscal year
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RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

During the quarter ended September 30, 2006, welated the following transactions in reliance ugaemptions from registration under
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act") @vided in Section 4(2) thereof. All certificatessiied in connection with these transac
were endorsed with a restrictive legend confirntingt the securities could not be resold withouisteation under the Act or an applica
exemption from the registration requirements of Awe. None of the transactions involved a publifedhg, underwriting discounts or sa
commissions. We believe that each person was difigda investor within the meaning of the Act and had klemlge and experience
financial and business matters, which allowed themvaluate the merits and risks of our securifiggh person was knowledgeable abou
operations and financial condition.

1. In July 2006, the seller of the New York club corigd $350,000 of principal from the related promigsnote into 50,000 shares
restricted common stock.

2. In August 2006, a holder of a convertible debentaeverted $25,023 of interest owed into 5,269eshaf restricted common stock.
ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our audited consolidated financial statataeand the related notes to the financial
statements included in this Form 10-KSB.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statemignthis Form 10KSB to make applicable and take advantage of tfelsrbor provisio
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act 1895 for any forward-looking statements made bymuen behalf of us. Forwardoking
statements include statements concerning planscigs, goals, strategies, future events or p@doce and underlying assumptions
other statements, which are other than stateméntstorical facts. Certain statements in this FArPaKSB are forwardeoking statement
Words such as "expects," "believes," "anticipatésiay,” and "estimates" and similar expressionsiatended to identify forwartboking
statements. Such statements are subject to riskaraertainties that could cause actual resultiffer materially from those projected. S
risks and uncertainties are set forth below. Oyeetations, beliefs and projections are expregsgdad faith and we believe that they ha
reasonable basis, including without limitation, axamination of historical operating trends, datatained in our records and other (
available from third parties. There can be no asse that our expectations, beliefs or projectisitisresult, be achieved, or be accomplist
In addition to other factors and matters discusdedwhere in this Form 1KSB, the following are important factors that inratdew coulc
cause material adverse affects on our financiatlitem and results of operations: the risks andeutainties related to our future operatic
and financial results, the risks and uncertaintedating to our Internet operations, competitivetdas, the timing of the openings of ot
clubs, the availability of acceptable financingftmd corporate expansion efforts, our dependenckeynpersonnel, the ability to mani
operations and the future operational strengtharfiagement, and the laws governing the operatialwi entertainment businesses. We |
no obligation to update or revise these forward<iog statements to reflect the occurrence of fuewents or circumstances.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in our Common Stock involves a higlgreée of risk. You should carefully consider tleksidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our Common Stock. If any oftlents, contingencies, circumstances or condititaseribed in the risks below actui
occurs, our business, financial condition or resaftoperations could be seriously harmed. Thargagrice of our Common Stock could,
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

Our Business Operations are Subject to Regulatangetiainties Which May Affect Our Ability to Contie Operations of Existir
Nightclubs, Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Fitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to lpsthte and federal regulations. Our businessgslated by local zoning, local and s
liquor licensing, local ordinances and state antiffal time place and manner restrictions. The aghtkrtainment provided by our nightcl
has elements of speech and expression and, therefgoys some protection under the First Amendrtetiie United States Constituti
However, the protection is limited to the expressiand not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileroghtclubs are generally well establis
in their respective markets, there can be no assarthat local, state and/or federal licensing @theér regulations will permit our nightclt
to remain in operation or profitable in the future.

As discussed in the section entitled “Legal Prooegs! herein, we are subject to litigation regarding 8exually Oriented Business licen
in Houston, Texas. The trial commenced on Decemb2006. A decision from the Trial Court is notiaipated until some time in 2007.
the event the City of Houston can meet its burdeh@revails at trial, we would appeal that ruliifpe effect of any potential adverse ru
on our operations in Houston is unknown. An adveusieg would affect all sexually oriented businessn Houston. In that event, we wc
change our method of operations to require oureiters to wear latex and bikini bottoms. Whilenagement believes this potential che
will not have a meaningful effect on our operatioas the effect would be to all similarly situateasinesses, the effect is unknown.
possible an adverse ruling may allow for additiac@hpetition in the Houston market.
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We May Need Additional Financing or Our Businespénsion Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insuffiti® satisfy our working capital and capital exgure requirements, we will need to r¢
additional funds through the public or private safeour equity or debt securities. The timing amdoant of our capital requirements \
depend on a number of factors, including cash thomt cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtlitional funds are raised through
issuance of equity or convertible debt securitiles,percentage ownership of our tretisting shareholders will be reduced. We cannstii@
you that additional financing will be available taxms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equityancing, if available, may result in diluti
to existing shareholders, and debt financing, dilable, may include restrictive covenants. Anyiuia@ by us to procure timely additiol
financing will have material adverse consequencesu business operations.

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightclutkéftainment Industry, Which May Affect Our Ability Operate Profitably or Acqui
Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these agtitggs may have greater financial and managenesdurces than we do. Additiona
the industry is subject to unpredictable competitiends and competition for general entertainrdetiairs. There can be no assurance th:
will be able to remain profitable in this compet#iindustry.

Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauramd &ar industry has been an extremely volatile $trgu The industry tends to be extren
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatrwéeonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainineioistry revenues increase, and w
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnrahistry revenues decline. Coupled with this econmensitivity are the trendy perso
preferences of the customers who frequent adularetdh We continuously monitor trends in our cusishtastes and entertainmr
preferences so that, if necessary, we can makeppgte changes which will allow us to remain ofithe premiere adult cabarets. Howe
any significant decline in general corporate cdodi or uncertainties regarding future economicspeats that affect consumer spen
could have a material adverse effect on our businesaddition, we have historically catered toliantele base from the upper end of
market. Accordingly, further reductions in the amtuof entertainment expenses allowed as deducfions income under the Interi
Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, could adverf$ety sales to customers dependent upon corpoxainse accounts.
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Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesrirthe sale of alcoholic beverages. In Texas, tllecaitty to issue a permit to sell alcohe
beverages is governed by the Texas Alcoholic Beee@ommission (the "TABC"), which has the authgrityits discretion, to issue t
appropriate permits. Rick's presently holds a MiBsverage Permit and a Late Hours Permit (the "RghmThese Permits are subjec
annual renewal, provided we have complied withrallks and regulations governing the permits. Rehefva permit is subject to prote
which may be made by a law enforcement agency er fmgmber of the general public. In the event pfadest, the TABC may hold a hear
at which time the views of interested parties axpressed. The TABC has the authority after suchrimgaiot to issue a renewal of

protested alcoholic beverage permit. While we hasner been subject to a protest hearing againsetiewal of our Permits, there can b
assurance that such a protest could not be matie fiature, nor can there be any assurance th&dhaits would be granted in the event ¢
a protest was made. Other states may have siraila@ Which may limit the availability of a permit sell alcoholic beverages or which n
provide for suspension or revocation of a permiet alcoholic beverages in certain circumstantés. temporary or permanent suspen
or revocations of either of the Permits or the ilighto obtain permits in areas of expansion woblave a material adverse effect on
revenues, financial condition and results of openatof the Company.

We Must Continue to Meet The NASDAQ Small Cap MaiRentinued Listing Requirements or We Risk Datigti

Our securities are currently listed for tradingtba NASDAQ Small Cap Market. We must continue tisfa NASDAQ’s continued listin
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaaiverse effect on our business. If our securitieseaer ddisted from the NASDAQ,
may trade on the over-the-counter market, which immaya less liquid market. In such case, our shiders ability to trade or obta
guotations of the market value of shares of ourroom stock would be severely limited because of foineding volumes and transact
delays. These factors could contribute to lowetgwiand larger spreads in the bid and ask pricesufosecurities. There is no assurance
we will be able to maintain compliance with the NA&Q continued listing requirements.

In The Future, We Will Incur Significant Increas€wsts as a Result of Operating as a Public Compamy,Our Management Will |
Required to Devote Substantial Time to New Comgkalmitiatives

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-OxlepfA2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act'gs
well as new rules subsequently implemented by &€,Shave imposed various new requirements on pablcpanies, including requiri
changes in corporate governance practices. Ourgeamant and other personnel will need to devotebatantial amount of time to these r
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules aedutations will increase our legal and financiamgliance costs and will make so
activities more timesonsuming and costly. For example, we expect tmese rules and regulations to make it more difficaftd mor
expensive for us to obtain director and officebili&y insurance, and we may be required to inaustantial costs to maintain the sam
similar coverage.
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In addition, the Sarban&dxley Act requires, among other things, that went@n effective internal controls for financial mpng ant
disclosure controls and procedures. In particldammencing in fiscal 2008, we must perform systewh process evaluation and testing
the effectiveness of our internal controls oveaficial reporting, as required by Section 404 ofSheébane®©xley Act. Subsequently in fisc
2009, our independent registered public accourfiing will report on the effectiveness of our intafrcontrols over financial reporting,
required by Section 404 of the Sarba@edey Act. Our testing, or the subsequent testiggobr independent registered public accour
firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal catdrover financial reporting that are deemed taniagerial weaknesses. Our compliance
Section 404 will require that we incur substardietounting expense and expend significant managesffents. We currently do not have
internal audit group, and we will need to hire a@iddial accounting and financial staff with apprepe public company experience .
technical accounting knowledge. Moreover, if we aoé able to comply with the requirements of Setd04 in a timely manner, or if we
our independent registered public accounting fidentifies deficiencies in our internal controls pfiaancial reporting that are deemed tc
material weaknesses, the market price of our stockd decline, and weould be subject to sanctions or investigationshgySEC or othi
regulatory authorities, which would require addiabfinancial and management resources.

Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we consider adecdfaapersonal injury and property damage to whiahbusiness of the Company r
be subject. However, there can be no assuranceniaured liabilities in excess of the coveragevjuted by insurance, which liabilities i
be imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusimilar "Dram Shop" statutes or common lawothess of liability in other stat
where we operate or expand. The Texas "Dram Shafiite provides a person injured by an intoxicaterson the right to recover dama
from an establishment that wrongfully served aldimhlmeverages to such person if it was apparetitécserver that the individual being s
served or provided with an alcoholic beverage wasdausly intoxicated to the extent that he presgmteclear danger to himself and oth
An employer is not liable for the actions of its@oyee who oveserves if (i) the employer requires its employeeattend a seller trainii
program approved by the TABC; (ii) the employee hatially attended such a training program; arijitie employer has not directly
indirectly encouraged the employee to violate . lIt is our policy to require that all serversabéohol working at our clubs be certifiec
servers under a training program approved by thBQ Awhich certification gives statutory immunity tioe sellers of alcohol from dam:
caused to third parties by those who have conswatoetholic beverages at such establishment pursaahé Texas Alcoholic Beverage Cc
There can be no assurance, however, that uninabéiities may not arise which could have a matksidverse effect on the Company.

Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's" and "Rickéb&et" are established under the common law based our substantial and continu
use of these trademarks in interstate commerce sihéeast as early as 1987. "RICK'S AND STARS OH$1 and "RICK'S CABARET
logos are registered through service mark registratissued by the United States Patent and Trade®ffice ("PTO"). There can be
assurance that these steps taken by the Compapsotiect its Service Marks will be adequate to detésappropriation of its protect
intellectual property rights. Litigation may be essary in the future to protect our rights fronrimdement, which may be costly and ti
consuming. The loss of the intellectual properghts owned or claimed by us could have a matethatiese affect on our business.
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Anti-takeover Effects of Issuance of Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspeai1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in omaare series, to fix the number of sh:
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigirid preferences of the shares constituting angssevithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock éyBitard of Directors could adversely affect thdsgof the holders of Common Stock.
example, such issuance could result in a classafries outstanding that would have preferendés ispect to voting rights and divide
and in liquidation over the Common Stock, and cquldon conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to Common Stc
The Board's authority to issue Preferred Stockatdigcourage potential takeover attempts and cdelay or prevent a change in contrc
the Company through merger, tender offer, proxytestror otherwise by making such attempts morécdiffto achieve or more costly. Th
are no issued and outstanding shares of Prefetoett;3here are no agreements or understandingtdaissuance of Preferred Stock, anc
Board of Directors has no present intention toesBreferred Stock.

We Do Not Anticipate Paying Dividends on Commonrgkan the Foreseeable Future

Since our inception we have not paid any dividemdour common stock and we do not anticipate pagimgdividends in the foreseea
future. We expect that future earnings, if any) bl used for working capital and to finance grawth

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress QaokSRrice

The market price of our common stock could deddisa result of sales of substantial amounts otommon stock in the public market, o
a result of the perception that these sales coeddroIn addition, these factors could make it ndifécult for us to raise funds through futi
offerings of common stock.

O ur Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctuatidhe Future

The trading price of our securities may fluctuagmsgicantly. This price may be influenced by mdagtors, including:

» our performance and prospects;

» the depth and liquidity of the market for our séies;

» sales by selling shareholders of shares issuesboalble in connection with the Debenture and/owvEdible Note;
» investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate;

« changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatiemd by analysts;

» general financial and other market conditions; and

* domestic economic conditions.
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Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexme, extreme price and trading volume volatilithese broad market fluctuations r
adversely affect the market price of our securities

O ur Management Controls a Significant Percentag@wfCurrent Outstanding Common Stock and Theirdsts May Conflict With Thos
of Our Shareholders

As of December 15, 2006, our Directors and exeeutificers and their respective affiliates colleety and beneficially owned approximat
25.1% of our outstanding common stock, includingwadrrants exercisable within 60 days. This congditn of voting control gives o
Directors and executive officers and their respectffiliates substantial influence over any mattarich require a shareholder vi
including, without limitation, the election of Ditors, even if their interests may conflict witlosie of other shareholders. It could also |
the effect of delaying or preventing a change int of or otherwise discouraging a potential acgufrom attempting to obtain control
us. This could have a material adverse effect emthrket price of our common stock or prevent dwaresholders from realizing a premi
over the then prevailing market prices for theargs of common stock.

We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large pantet@ining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, oueditent, Chief Executive Officer and Ct
Financial Officer. Mr. Langan possesses a uniquk @mprehensive knowledge of our industry. While Mangan has no present plan
leave or retire in the near future, his loss cddde a negative effect on our operating, markedimdyfinancial performance if we are unabl
find an adequate replacement with similar knowledge experience within our industry. We maintaig-ke&an life insurance with respect
Mr. Langan. Although Mr. Langan is under an empleyinagreement (as described herein), there cam lssurance that Mr. Langan \
continue to be employed by us. The loss of Mr. laangould have a negative effect on our operatiragkating, and financing performance.

Cumulative Voting is Not Available To Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors igpeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporationcodrdingly, the holder or holders o
majority of the outstanding shares of our commatlstmay elect all of our Directors. Managemsriirge percentage ownership of
outstanding common stock helps enable them to aiaittteir positions as such and thus control oftuginess and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liabilitmé Have Rights To Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provids, germitted by governing Texas law, that our Doestind officers shall not be person
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mong@amages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Dineotoofficer, with certain exceptions. T
Articles further provide that we will indemnify ollrirectors and officers against expenses and ifegdsilthey incur to defend, settle, or sat
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having biggrirectors or officers unless, in st
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegéigence or willful misconduct.
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The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleayrhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors a
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholdemnanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Rinecand officers for breach of th
duty of care, even though such an action, if stefogsmight otherwise have benefited us and outldtolders.

The Articles provide for the indemnification of oafficers and Directors, and the advancement tatbé expenses in connection with |
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent pgechiby Texas law. The Articles include relatedyismns meant to facilitate the indemnitt
receipt of such benefits. These provisions covenpray other things: (i) specification of the methofl determining entitlement
indemnification and the selection of independentnsel that will in some cases make such deternimaii) specification of certain tin
periods by which certain payments or determinationsst be made and actions must be taken, andtlfié)establishment of certi
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisimmder the Securities Act may be permitted to oteators, officers and controlling persons
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have labssed that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such
indemnification is against public policy as expexb@ the Securities Act and is therefore unentaiote

GENERAL INFORMATION

We operate in two businesses in the adult enteniin industry:

1. We own and/or operate upscale adult nightclubsimsgrgrimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghteiubs offer live adu
entertainment, restaurant and bar operations. Weamw operate nine adult nightclubs under the rdiek's Cabaret" and "XT(
in Houston, Austin and San Antonio, Texas, Minndgpdlinnesota, and New York, New York. We also oamd operate thr
upscale venues that cater especially to urban gsimfeals, businessmen and professional athletiesi¢&llub Onyx”in Houston an
San Antonio, Texas, and Charlotte, North Caroliiée. also own and operate “Rick’s Sports Cabafét’sexual contact is permitt
at any of our locations.

2. We have extensive Internet activities.

a) We currently own two adult Internet membership Witles at www.CoupleTouch.com and www.xxxpassword.cave
acquire xxxpassword.com site content from wholesale
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b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtyBigis.cThis site provides our customers with the oppuoty to purchas
adult products and services in an auction format. &élrn revenues by charging fees for each transactinducted on tl
automated site.

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the saldiqufor, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover caafgnembership fees, indepeni
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Afilchines, valet parking and other products andicgs. Our Internet revenues
derived from subscriptions to adult content Inténwebsites, traffic/referral revenues, and comroissiearned on the sale of products
services through Internet auction sites, and adbgvities. Our fiscal year end is September 30.

Beginning in fiscal 2002 and continuing throughc&is2006, we greatly reduced our usage of promatipricing for membership fees for «
adult entertainment web sites. This reduced owrregs from these web sites.

We performed our annual evaluation on goodwill impant as of September 30, 2006. We determined ttieatgoodwill related to tt
acquisition of Bobby’s Novelty, Inc. was impaireadacharged $79,841 against operating expenses.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in conftymaiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptionsftbat eertain reported amounts in the financiatesteents and accompanying na
Estimates and assumptions are based on historiparience, forecasted future events and variousralsumptions that we believe tc
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatessandhations may vary under different assumptiorsoaditions. We evaluate our estims
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believadbeunting policies below are critical in the payal of our financial condition al
results of operations.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts receivable trade is primarily comprisedcaddit card charges, which are generally convertedash in two to five days afte
purchase is made. The Compangccounts receivable other is comprised of empl@advances and other miscellaneous receivable:
longterm portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakmsets. The Company recogn
interest income on notes receivable based on thestef the agreement and based upon managesreraluation that the notes receivable
interest income will be collecte@he Company recognizes allowances for doubtful aetsoor notes when, based on management judc
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaisks will not be collected. The $70,000 due froaufus Entertainment as of Septembe
2006 and 2005 was collateralized by 3,000,000 shafeTaurus Entertainment (now known as "Bluestaaltth, Inc."). The Compal
foreclosed on the collateralized shares in Aug0862 As such, the Company presently owns the stargdas the ability to sell them in
open market. As of September 30, 2006, the valubeo$hares totals approximately $150,000. As theuat due has been fully collaterali;
since the note receivable agreement was enterethar@ompany believes such collateral will fullyisiy such amount due, no allowance
been provided nor is deemed necessary as of Septe3fb 2006 and 2005. The Company intends to aehdellectibility either throug
repurchase of the shares by Bluestar Health, inisy selling the shares in the open market orpnizate transaction.
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Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @uinpany merchandise. Inventories are carried atover of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at September 30, 2006 an8 26Asist of common stock. Statement of Financi@oAinting Standards (“SFASNo.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg@ecurities requires certain investments be recorded atvéline or amortize
cost. The appropriate classification of the invesita in marketable equity is determined at the toth@urchase and revaluated at ea
balance sheet date. As of September 30, 2006 a0 2 Company’s marketable securities were dladsas available-fosale, which ai
carried at fair value, with unrealized gains anss&s reported as other comprehensive income wvihbirstockholderséquity section of tr
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Theotosarketable equity securities sold is determinada specific identification basis. 1
fair value of marketable equity securities is basadjuoted market prices. There have been no eshfiains or losses related to market
securities for the year ended September 30, 200&rkéfiable securities held at September 30, 2006 20tb have a cost basis
approximately $13,000.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Proxidior depreciation and amortization are made ustrajghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteseful lives or terms of the applicable leasmsléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeBtsniture, equipment and leasehold improvemenie leatimated useful lives between:
and ten years. Expenditures for major renewals laeitlerments that extend the useful lives are diggth Expenditures for norn
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incutneccokt of assets sold or abandoned and the relatednulated depreciation are elimini
from the accounts and any gains or losses are etiamgcredited in the accompanying statement ofatipes of the respective period.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. X@@odwill and Other Intangibles Asseterhich addresses the accounting for goodwill atie
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill mmahgible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an ani
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFASIMA. effective October 1, 2001. The Companghnual evaluation was performed &
September 30, 2006, based on a projected discouagtdflow method using a discount rate determimethanagement to be commenst
with the risk inherent in the current business nhofliee Company determined that the goodwill relatethe acquisition of Bobbg'Novelty
Inc. was impaired and charged $79,841 against tpgraxpenses. All of the Compasyjoodwill and intangible assets relate to the teigh
segment. Definite lived intangible assets are ameton a straight-line basis over their estimditezs. Fully amortized assets are writteffi-
against accumulated amortization.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise and seraicé® point-ofsale upon receipt
cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes revenue for VIP membershigeccordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No.41Revenue Recognitiotby
deferring membership revenue and recognizing dweestimated membership usage period. Managemé@ntess that the weighted aver.
useful lives for memberships are 12 and 24 monthsahnual and lifetime memberships, respectivelge TTompany does not tre
membership usage by type of membership, howevdrlieves these lives are appropriate and conseeyaliased on management’
knowledge of its client base and membership usatealubs.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mypmhbscriptions to its online entertainment sitégem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received ftoethird party hosting company or from the crexditd company, usually two to three d
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyideeot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteanetion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emnéd estimable nor collection deemed probable frithat point.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyngosed of costs related to public advertisementd giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing ezges are expensed as incurred and are includexpdrating expenses in !
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiamethod in accordance with SFAS No. 1@g;counting for Income TaxeDeferre(
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for titeré tax consequences attributable to differemat®een the financial statement carn
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrtrespective tax bases. Deferred tax assets dpitities are measured using enacted tax
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeanstiith those temporary differences are expectdoktoecovered or settled. The effec
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changevinrates is recognized in income in the period ihaudes the enactment date. In additic
valuation allowance is established to reduce arfigromd tax asset for which it is determined thad itnore likely than not that some portior
the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Stock Options

At September 30, 2006, the Company has stock aptiomstanding, which are described more fully irteNid of the consolidated financ
statements. The Company accounts for its stoclooptunder the recognition and measurement prirgipleAccounting Principles Bog
(“APB”) Opinion No. 25,Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees] related Interpretations. The following tablestrates the effect on r
income and earnings per share if the Company hpliedphe fair value recognition provisions of SFAS. 123,Accounting for StocBase(
Compensationpo stock-based employee compensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgberre data as if a fair value accounting methablide®n used to account for stdukse:
compensation:

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005

Net income (loss), as report $ 1,752,71. $ (215,149
Less total stock-based employee compensation egmkrisrmined under the fair value

based method for all awards (611,409 (549,169
Pro forma net income (loss) $ 1,141,300 $ (764,31)
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic - as reported $ 03¢ $ (0.05)

Diluted - as reported $ 0.3t $ (0.05)

Basic - pro forma $ 0.25 $ (0.19)

Diluted - pro forma $ 0.2: $ (0.19)
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Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Starsl@oard (“FASB”) issued interpretation 46R (“FINR®, a revision to interpretation .
(“FIN 46™), Consolidation of Variable Interest EntitiesIN 46R clarifies some of the provisions of FIB dnd exempts certain entities fr
its requirements. FIN 46R was effective at the efhthe first interim period ending after March 2804. The adoption of FIN 46 and F
46R did not have a material impact on the Compacgisolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, SBased Payment, which is a revision of SFAS 123,oMoting for StockBaset
Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Aditmufor Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R fesysrimarily on sharbase:
payments for employee services, requiring thesenpays to be recorded using a fair-value-based rdeffite use of APB 25'intrinsic valu
method of accounting for employee stock optionsbieen eliminated. As a result, the fair value otktoptions granted to employees in
future will be required to be expensed. The immacthe results of operations of the Company willdependent on the number of opti
granted and the fair value of those options. FerGbmpany, SFAS 123R will be effective beginninddber 1, 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, wechasolidated total revenues of $24,487,215, coatpto consolidated total revenue:
$14,824,407 for the year ended September 30, ZO@5consolidated total revenues for the periodren@ieptember 30, 2005 did not incl
revenues from discontinued operations in the amofir®672,265. This was an increase of $9,662,808%1t8%. The increase in tc
revenues was primarily due to revenues generatedrimew clubs, increases in revenues from outiegi€lubs, and an increase in rever
from our New York location as it has a full twelmenths of operations in fiscal 2006 compared ty ¢eds than one month in fiscal 20
Revenues from nightclub operations for same-looateme-period increased by 25.12% and for Intdmaginesses by 1.91%.

Our income from continuing operations before mityomterest for the year ended September 30, 2006 %$%,721,377 compared to a los
$368,313 for the yeaended September 30, 2005. The increase in incoome ¢ontinuing operations was primarily due to therease i
revenues from our existing clubs and from our Newkvlocation as it has a full twelve months of @ems in fiscal 2006 compared to
less than one month in fiscal 2005, offset by a lfsapproximately $330,000 from our newly acquickds. Our net income from continu
operations for nightclub operations was $4,268,#86the year ended September 30, 2006 compared #Mifi21,264 for the year enc
September 30, 2005. Our net income from operatfonour Internet businesses was $138,351 for ther yeded September 30, 2
compared with $114,501 for the year ended Septebe2005. Our income from continuing operationsdor nightclub operations for t
same-location-same-period increased by 51.26%.n@uimcome for our Internet operations for the saveé-site-samgeriod increased |
20.83%.
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Our cost of goods sold for the year ended Septe®®e2006 was 11.91% of total revenues compard® 69% of related revenues for
year ended September 30, 2005. The decrease wapridugrily to the overall reduction in cost of g@odold in our club and interr
operations. Our cost of goods sold for the nightaperations for the year ended September 30, 2@8612.17% of our total revenues fi
club operations compared to 12.87% for the yeae@r8kptember 30, 2005. We continued our efforectoeve reductions in cost of go
sold of the club operations through improved ineentmanagement. We are continuing a program toergmargins from liquor and fo
sales and food service efficiency. Our cost ofs&lem our Internet operations for the year endept@&nber 30, 2006 was 4.10% compart
7.55% of related revenues for the year ended Sdyer80, 2005. We have implemented measures to eedxpenses in our Interi
operations.

Our payroll and related costs for the year endquie®eber 30, 2006 were $7,081,660 compared to $8260or the year ended Septen
30, 2005. The increase was primarily due to thee@®e in payroll in our New York club as it hasibh fiwvelve months of operations in fis
2006 compared to only less than one month in fi@€&l5 and in opening new clubs. Our payroll for aightclub operations for same-
location-sameperiod increased by 14.26%. The increase was pityrdare to increases in payroll in our Minnesotppf8s Cabaret, and On
Houston clubs due to increases in revenues. Ourofpaipr Internet operations increased by 15.33%e Welieve that our labor a
management staff levels are at appropriate levels.

Our other general and administrative expenseshiorear ended September 30, 2006 were $11,498@6@Rared to $7,458,721 for the y
ended September 30, 2005. The increase was pynthrd to the increase in taxes & permits, rentallégprofessional, utilities, insuran:
and advertising & marketing expenses from openiey focations, from our existing clubs, and from dlew York location as it has a f
twelve months of operations in fiscal 2006 compaeanly less than one month in fiscal 2005. Otbeliing, general and administrat
expenses for same-location-sapesiod for the nightclub operations increased by’A®%. The increase was primarily due to the inerée
taxes & permits, rent, legal & professional, Ui, insurance, and advertising & marketing expenS¢her selling, general and administre
expenses for Internet operations decreased by 4.84%

Our interest expense for the year ended Septenthe2®6 was $1,057,020 compared to $699,678 foy¢lae ended September 30, 2(

The increase was primarily due to the increasebt th relation to the purchase and renovation@iNork club. We have increased our |
term debt to $13,920,733 as of September 30, 200tpared to debt of $13,246,836 as of Septembez®IH.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of September 30, 2006, we had a deficit in wagldapital of $2,264,101 compared to $2,047,725% &eptember 30, 2005. Because o
large volume of cash we handle, stringent cashratsnhave been implemented. The decrease was fisirdae to increases in current port
of long term debt and accrued expenses, offset dgcaease in accounts payable and increase inacashash equivalent. At September
2006, our cash and cash equivalents were $854@®8pared to $480,330 at September 30, 2005.

Our depreciation for the year ended September @06 2vas $1,001,513 compared to $573,706 for the greded September 30, 2005.
amortization for the year ended September 30, 20036$47,734 compared to $16,760 for the periode:Séptember 30, 2005.

The following table presents a summary of our dhsks from operating, investing, and financing sitigs:

Years ended September 30,

2006 2005
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 272577 $ 2,090,03
Net cash used in investing activit| (3,110,841 (6,307,50)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 759,67 4,801,19
Net cash used in discontinued operati (378,63))
Net increase in cash and cash equive $ 374,60. $ 205,08

Net cash provided by operating activities in tharyended September 30, 2006 was $2,725,770 compak2/090,030 for the year ent
September 30, 2005. The increase in cash providegpérating activities was primarily due to thergegse in net income.

We used $3,110,840 of cash in investing activifiesthe year ended September 30, 2006 compared,80%,508 for the year enc
September 30, 2005. $759,672 of cash was providédancing activities for the year ended in SepgitenB0, 2006 compared to $4,801,
for the year ended September 30, 2005.

We require capital principally for construction aequisition of new clubs, renovation of older clarsl investments in technology. We
utilize capital to repurchase our common stockaas @f our share repurchase program.

We believe that the adult entertainment industandard of treating entertainers as independentraciots provides us with safe har

protection to preclude payroll tax assessment ffiar [years. We have prepared plans that we beligligrotect our profitability in the eve
that sexually oriented business industry is reguiineall states to convert dancers who are nowgaddent contractors into employees.
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The sexually oriented business industry is higluynpetitive with respect to price, service and lmgtas well as the professionalism of
entertainers. Although we believe that we are \peBitioned to compete successfully in the futunerdé can be no assurance that we wi
able to maintain our high level of name recognitionl prestige within the marketplace.

Debt Financing:

On November 15 and 17, 2004, we borrowed $590,000%4.,042,000, respectively, from a financial ingtbn at an annual interest rate
10% over a 10 year term. The monthly payments wfcjpal and interest are $5,694 and $10,056, résmde The note is secured by «
properties located at 2023 Sable Lane, San Antanob at 410 N. Sam Houston Pkwy. E., Houston, TeesNovember 30, 2004, »
borrowed $900,000 from an unrelated individualbet tate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Thathtp payment of principal a
interest is $9,290. The note is secured by ourents located at 3501 Andtree, Austin and at 57digdale, Houston, Texas. On Decen
30, 2004, we borrowed $1,270,000 from a financiatifution at an annual interest rate of 10% ové&0agear term. The monthly paymen
principal and interest is $12,256. The note is s&tiby our property located at 3113 Bering Driveubton, Texas. The money received f
this financing was used for the acquisition anduation of the New York club.

We entered into a promissory note on January 1852fr $5,125,000 bearing simple interest at tte of 4.0% per annum with a ballc
payment at the end of five years, part of whicbasvertible to restricted shares of our commonksti@rices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50
share. As of September 30, 2006, $1,925,000 ofttineipal had been converted into 350,000 sharesiofestricted common stock.

On June 10, 2005, we entered into a promissory floot®325,000 bearing interest at a rate of 7%ameum for a seven year term. The no
secured by liens upon the assets of and hereafieirad assets of RCI Entertainment (North Carglihec.

On June 17, 2005, we borrowed $100,000 from anlatectindividual at an annual interest rate of 1d%ér 10 year term.

In July 2005, we received additional borrowingsha amount of $100,000 from the same unrelatedviehaal who advanced $100,000 in J
2005, and with whom we had two existing notes. Tdren is for 10 years and the interest rate is 1¥b6agmnum. On August 15, 2005,
notes were amended and the amounts from June §n200,000) were included in one of the notes,ad@ombined total of $1,341,520

payable to this individual.

In January 2006, we paid off our borrowing with ¥®iMedia.
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On February 6, 2006, we issued a Convertible Deienfthe “Debenture”o an unrelated investment group for the principam o
$1,000,950 bearing interest at the rate of 10%@apeum, with a maturity date of February 1, 2009d¢&frthe terms of the Debenture, we
required to make three quarterly interest paymbatgnning May 1, 2006. Thereafter, we are requicethake nine equal quarterly princi
and interest payments. At any time after 366 daysfthe date of issuance of this Debenture, we faaight to redeem the Debentur
whole or in part during the term of the Debentutethe election of the holder, the holder has ightrat any time to convert all or any port
of the principal or interest amount of the Debeatinto shares of our common stock at a rate of35par share, which approximates
closing price of our stock on February 6, 2006. phaceeds of the Debenture was usedgayoff certain debt and increase working caj
As of June 30, 2006, the holder had elected toex$22,938 of interest into 4,829 shares of retsiti common stock.

In March 2006, we paid off our borrowing from arreiated individual on the property in Brazoria Ctyun

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Debit Sasj Inc., acquired 99% of the ownership interesin adult entertainment cabaret kn
as “Centerfolds'located at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, Tefdslitionally, under the terms of the transactionr subsidiary, R(
Holdings, Inc. acquired 100% of the interest in itii@roved real property upon which Centerfoldsoisated. The total purchase price for
business and real property was $2,900,000. Undmistef the agreement, we paid the owners of thie @hd property $600,000 in cash at
time of closing and signed promissory notes forrtraaining balance. In addition, certain memberthefcurrent ownership structure ente
a five-year covenant not to compete with us.

Financing from related patrties:

On June 17, 2005, we borrowed $160,000 from a kbater at an annual interest rate of 12% over 3 teran.

On July 22, 2005, we entered into a secured cobledebenture with a greater than 10% sharehdédex principal sum of $660,000, wh
includes the loan on June 17, 2005, in the amo@i§t160,000. The term is for three years and ther@st rate is 12% per annum.
debenture matures on August 1, 2008. We also iss0@d0 warrants at $3.00 per share in relatighitodebenture. The debenture is sec
by our ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCI Hiolgss, Inc., both of which are wholly owned subsiidis.

On April 28, 2006, we entered into convertible debees with three shareholders, one of which igeatgr than 10% shareholder, f
principal sum of $825,000. The term is for two yeand the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieh of the holders, the holders have
right to convert (subject to certain limitationd)@ any portion of the principal amount of theb@atures into shares of our common stock
rate of $6.55 per share, which approximates thsirmdpprice of our stock on April 28, 2006. The detoees provide, absent shareho
approval, that the number of shares of our commnonksthat may be issued by us or acquired by tHdem® upon conversion of t
debentures shall not exceed 19.99% of the totalbeurof issued and outstanding shares of our constamk. $600,000 of the debenture
secured by our property located at 9009 AirportdBNHouston, Texas. The proceeds of the debentuees used for the acquisition of Jc
Ventures, Inc.
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Subsequent to fiscal year end, on November 9, 2@@6entered into convertible debentures with theleareholders for a principal sum
$600,000. The term is for two years and the intame is 12% per annum. At the election of thedbdd, the holders have the right to cor
(subject to certain limitations) all or any portiohthe principal amount of the debentures intoreb@f our common stock at a rate of $
per share, which was higher than the closing pofceur stock on November 9, 2006. The debenturesige, absent shareholder apprc
that the number of shares of our common stockrtteat be issued by us or acquired by the holders apowersion of the debentures shall
exceed 19.99% of the total number of issued anstanding shares of our common stock. The procektsalebentures were used for
acquisition of a 51% ownership interest of Playrm@entlemen’s Club LLC.

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have long term contractual obligations primaitilythe form of operating lease and debt obligatiorhe following table summarizes
contractual obligations and their aggregate madsras well as future minimum rent payments:

Operating Leas Debt(1) Total
2007 $ 974,84 $ 2,278,331 $ 3,253,16:
2008 998,91- 5,017,32 6,016,24:
2009 884,11 1,252,29 2,136,41
2010 653,88: 662,12 1,316,00.
2011 654,09: 1,065,90! 1,719,991
Thereafter 7,999,66: 3,644,76 11,644,43

$ 12,165,51 $ 13,920,73 $  26,086,24
(1) The interest obligation on debt is not included

We are not aware of any other event or trend tlmatldvpotentially affect liquidity. In the event dua trend develops, we believe our worl
capital and capital expenditure requirements vélkldlequately met by cash flows from operationsuinopinion, working capital is not a ti
indicator of our financial status. Typically, busgses in our industry carry current liabilitiesekcess of current assets because busines
our industry receive substantially immediate paymfen sales, with nominal receivables, while invaigs and other current liabiliti
normally carry longer payment terms. Vendors andvgyors often remain flexible with payment termmypding businesses in our indus
with opportunities to adjust to short-term busindsa/n turns. We consider the primary indicator$irdincial status to be the lorigrm tren:
of revenue growth, the mix of sales revenues, diveaish flow, and profitability from operations atite level of long-term debt.
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The following table presents a summary of suchcaidirs:

% %

Years ended September 30, 2006 increase 2005 increase 2004

Sales of alcoholic beverage $ 8,781,63 61.6¢ $ 5,431,04 1.6 $ 5,343,85
Sales of food and merchandise 2,651,86! 57.0¢ 1,688,04. 6.71 1,581,85
Service revenues 11,442,37 72.52 6,632,20: 13.5€ 5,839,75!
Internet revenues 801,39! 1.74 787,61 1.0¢ 796,35:
Other 809,94¢ 104.27 396,49 33.61 296,61
Total revenues $ 24,487,21 65.1¢ $ 14,824,40 6.97 $ 13,858,43
Net cash provided by operating activit 2,725,771 2,090,03! 736,30t
Net income (loss 1,752,71. (215,149 775,25:
Long term debt 13,920,73 13,246,83 3,693,56!

We have not established lines of credit or finagather than the above mentioned notes payableoanéxisting debt. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlatshould the need arise.

Share repurchase

On September 16, 2003, the Company was authorigeits hoard of directors to repurchase up to aniteshél $500,000 worth of o
common stock. No shares have been purchased unisi@ldn.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impawnfinflation in our operations during the pastesal years. To the extent permittec
competition, we have managed to recover increassts ¢hrough price increases and may continue tsaddHowever, there can be
assurance that we will be able to do so in theréutu

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasawbfs. Historically, we have experienced reduesemues from April through Septem

with the strongest operating results occurringrpctober through March. Our experience indictttasthere are no seasonal fluctuatior
our Internet activities.
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GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can camito grow organically and through careful entp imarkets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategy(i8) to open new clubs after careful market re¢edhy) to acquire existing clubs in locatir
that are consistent with our growth and incomeeatr@nd which appear receptive to the upscale foiubula we have developed, as is
case with the acquisition of the New York club ahabs in Charlotte, South Houston, San Antonio Andtin, (c) to form joint ventures
partnerships to reduce sta-and operating costs, with us contributing eqintthe form of our brand name and management &spe(d) tc
develop new club concepts that are consistent eithmanagement and marketing skills, and/or (gctuire real estate in connection \
club operations, although some clubs may be ire:asemises.

During fiscal 2006, we acquired three existing mifiib operations for a total cost of $3,865,000e§éh acquisitions were funded prime
through indebtedness, $3,195,000, and cash, $6¥.0J0@se nightclub operations had total revenuesppfoximately $370,000 and net |
of approximately $330,000.

During fiscal 2005, we acquired two existing nidgblbc operations for a total cost of $8,775,000. Ehasquisitions were funded prima
through indebtedness, $8,862,000, and issuanceraéstricted common stocks, $675,000. Part ofrtlebtedness was used for renovatic
the clubs. During fiscal 2006, $1,925,000 of thdeintedness was converted into 350,000 shares ofegtricted common stock. Thu
nightclub operations had total revenues of appratéty $7,400,000 and $1,100,000 during fiscal 280& 2005, respectively, and net incc
of approximately $635,000 during fiscal 2006 antdlass of approximately $983,000 during fiscal 2005

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquine nghtclubs and anticipate acquiring new locatitret fit our business model as we
done in the past.

We also expect to continue to grow our Internefipoenters. We plan to focus on highargin Internet activities that leverage our marig
skills while requiring a low level of statp cost and ongoing operating costs and refinetame our Internet sites for better positionin
organic search rankings amongst the major seamlhidars. We will restructure affiliate programspimvide higher incentives to our curr
affiliates to better promote our Internet sitesjle/hctively seeking new affiliates to send trafficour Internet sites.

The acquisition of additional clubs and/or interoperations will require us to obtain additionabter issuance of our common stock, or k

There can be no assurance that we will be abldtairoadditional financing on reasonable termsimfuture, if at all, should the need at
An inability to obtain such additional financingwtd have an adverse effect on our growth strategy.
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ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The information required by this Item 7 is includadhis report beginning on page F-1.

ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

There have been no changes in or disagreementaedtuntants on accounting and financial disclosure

ITEM 8A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of the end of the period of this report, ounpipal executive and principal financial officemrgad out an evaluation of the effectivenes
the design and operation of our disclosure contamld procedures. This evaluation was carried odieunhe supervision and with -
participation of our management, including our CHigecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. & on that evaluation, our Ct
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer comdéd that our disclosure controls and procedurestective in timely alerting them
material information required to be included in ®empanys periodic reports to the Securities and Exchamgar@ission. During the four
fiscal quarter, there were no changes in our irfecontrol over financial reporting that has mathyi affected, or is reasonably likely
materially affect the small business issuer’s ma¢control over financial reporting.

ITEM 8B . OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART Il
ITEMO9. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTRO L PERSONS; COMPLIANCE WITH

SECTION 16(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Our Directors are elected annually and hold offiogil the next annual meeting of our stockholdarsimtil their successors are elected
qualified. Officers are elected annually and sextvthe discretion of the Board of Directors. Thisrao family relationship between or ami

any of our directors and executive officers. OuaBbof Directors consists of five persons. Thediweihg table sets forth our Directors
executive officers:
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Name Age Position

Eric S. Langan 38 Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Presitiand Principal
Financial Officer

Travis Reese 37 Director and V.P.-Director of Technology

Robert L. Watters 55 Director

Alan Bergstrom 61 Director

Steven Jenkins 49 Director

Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 andPresident since March 1999. Mr. Langan is also@hief Financial Officer. He h
been involved in the adult entertainment busineses1989. From January 1997 through the presentals held the position of Presider
XTC Cabaret, Inc. From November 1992 until Jand®97, Mr. Langan was the President of Bathing Beautnc. Since 1989, Mr. Lang
has exercised managerial control over more thaszardadult entertainment businesses. Through #etiaties, Mr. Langan has acquired
knowledge and skills necessary to successfullyaipexdult entertainment businesses.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been arecbr since 1986. Mr. Watters was our Presideit @ur Chief Executive Officer fro
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters basied and operated Rick’Cabaret, an adult entertainment club in New @#d
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alsmuader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the GadorBar & Grill, an adult club locat
in Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selechegotiated the property purchase and overbavdésign and permitting for the ¢
that became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas\Wdtters practiced law as a solicitor in LondBngland and is qualified to practice |
in New York. Mr. Watters worked in the internatibnax group of the accounting firm of Touche, R8s€o. (now succeeded by Deloitte
Touche) from 1979 to 1983 and was engaged in tivatprpractice of law in Houston, Texas from 1983986, when he became involve:
our full-time management. Mr. Watters graduated from thedbarSchool of Economics and Political Science, ®rsity of London, in 197
with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in51®ith a Master of Laws degree from Osgoode Halt1School, York University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Judg. ZEince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddipaccountant with Pringle Jenkins
Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikides is the President and owner of Pringle Jenkinsssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins he
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.nléns is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA.

Alan Bergstrom became our Director in 1999. Sin@®871 Mr. Bergstrom has been the Chief Operatingc®ffof Eagle Securities, which is
investment consulting firm. Mr. Bergstrom is alscegistered stockbroker with Rhodes Securities, irom 1991 until 1997, Mr. Bergstrc
was a Vice Presidentrvestments with Principal Financial Securities;.IMr. Bergstrom holds a B.B.A. Degree in Finant@67, from th
University of Texas.
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Travis Reese became our Director and \DRector of Technology in 1999. From 1997 throu®99, Mr. Reese had been a senior net
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santa IRew Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compsystems engineer with Deloitte
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasident with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc.|@ernet service provider. From 1¢
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continendllines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was aftpivith Hang On, Inc., an airlii
company. Mr. Reese has an Associates Degree imAetical Science from Texas State Technical College

There is no family relationship between or among @four directors and executive officers.
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

We have an Audit Committee of independent directenese members are Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergstad Steven Jenkins. In NV
2000, our Board of Directors adopted a Chartertlier Audit Committee. The Charter establishes tikependence of our Audit Commit
and sets forth the scope of our Audit Committeeised. The purpose of our Audit Committee is todwet continuing oversight of o
financial affairs. Our Audit Committee conducts@rgoing review of our financial reports and othaafcial information prior to their beil
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissmmgptherwise provided to the public. Our Audit Coitiee also reviews our syster
methods and procedures of internal controls inareas of: financial reporting, audits, treasuryrapens, corporate finance, manage
financial and SEC accounting, compliance with langl ethical conduct. Our Audit Committee is objegtiand reviews and assesses the
of our independent registered public accounting fir

All of our Audit Committee members are independ@inectors. The Board of Directors elects the memtodrour Audit Committee annual
The members serve until their successors are detyeel and qualified. All members of the Audit Coitiae are free from any relations
that could conflict with member's independent juégim All members are able to read and understandafmental financial statemer
including a balance sheet, income statement, ask ftaw statement. At least one member has pastogment experience in finance
accounting, requisite professional certificationaocounting, or other comparable experience or dracikd, including a current or p
position as a chief executive or financial offiaarother senior officer with financial oversighsponsibilities. Steven L. Jenkins serve
Chairman of the Audit Committee, having been ekbdig the members of our Audit Committee. Stevenlénkins serves as the Al
Committees Financial Expert, having been elected by a unamgémote of the members of our Audit Committee. Phalit Committe:
Charter was previously filed as an exhibit to otox¥y Statement filed with the Securities and Exge@ommission on June 3, 2005, and
be found on our website at www.ricks.com
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We have a Nominating Committee composed of indegetndirectors Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergstrom Steven L. Jenkins. In July 201
the Board unanimously adopted a Charter with regarthe process to be used for identifying and watihg nominees for director. T
Charter establishes the independence of our Nomg&ommittee and sets forth the scope of the Nating Committee's duties. T
Nominating Committee Charter can be found on oursite atwww.ricks.com.

We have a Compensation Committee whose memberRaivert Watters, Alan Bergstrom and Steven L. JenkiPecisions concernil
executive officer compensation for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2006, were made by the Contmen&ommittee. The prima
purpose of the Compensation Committee is to evalaatl review the compensation of executive officers

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of4188juires our directors and executive officergl parsons who own beneficially m
than ten percent of our common stock, to file repof ownership and changes of ownership with teeufities and Exchange Commiss
Based solely on the reports we have received andrdten representations from certain reportingspes, we believe that the direct
executive officers, and greater than ten percenefigal owners have complied with all applicablen§ requirements, with the exception
two filings for Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10%assholder.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Prindipacutive and Senior Financial Officers, which vpasviously filed as Exhibit 14 to o
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended SeptembefB03, as filed with the SEC on December 29, 2003.

ITEM 10 . EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table reflects all forms of compensatfor services to us for the fiscal years endegt&mber 30, 2006, 2005 and 200
certain executive officersNo other executive officer of ours received compgiogs that exceeded $100,000 during fiscal 2005.ldngan i

Chairman of the Board, a Director, Chief Execu®#icer, President and Chief Financial Officer. NReese is Director and V.Birector o
Technology.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Annual Compensation

Long Term Compensation

Awards Payouts
Other Securities
Annual Restricted Underlying All Other
Compen- Stock Options/ LTIP Compen-
Name and Salary Bonus sation (1) Awards SARs Payouts sation
Principal Position Year (6)] €)) (6] %) #) €)) %)
Eric Langan
200€ $ 395,30( -0- -0- -0- 5,00( -0- -0-
200t $ 344,10( -0- -0- -0- 5,00( -0- -0-
200¢ $ 326,03t -0- -0- -0- 280,00( -0- -0-
Mr. Langan is our Chairman, a Director, Chief ExaaiOfficer, President and Chief Financial Offic
Travis Reese
200€ $ 167,20: -0- -0- -0- 5,00( -0- -0-
200t $ 165,53: -0- -0- -0- 5,00( -0- -0-
200¢ $ 161,00( -0- -0- -0- 55,00( -0- -0-

Mr. Reese is a Director and V.P.-Director of Tedbgyg

(1) We provide certain executive officers certain peeddenefits. Since the value of such benefits do¢€xceed the lesser of $50,000
or 10% of annual compensation, the amounts areeunit

OPTION/SAR GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR (Individual G rants)

Number of Percent of Total

Securities Options/SARs

Underlying Granted To

Options/SARs Employees In Exercise of Expiration
Name Granted Fiscal Year Base Price Date
# % $/share

Eric Langan 5,000 shares ) 125(% $ 6.7¢ 5/31/201:
Travis Reese 5,000 shares ) 125(% $ 6.7 5/31/201:

(1) These options were granted to Messrs. LangdrRaese for serving in their capacity as DirectArsotal of 17,500 stock options
were exercised by Messrs. Langan and Reese dinénfistal year ended September 30, 2006.
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AGGREGATED OPTION/SAR EXERCISES IN
LAST FISCAL YEAR AND FY-END OPTION/SAR VALUES

Number Of
Unexercised Value of Unexerc
Securities Underl In-The-Money
Options/SARs Options/
Shares At FY-End SARs At FY-End
Acquired On Value Exercisable/ Exercisable/
Name Exercise Realized Unexercisable Unexercisable
# $ # $
Eric Langan 5,000 () $ 21,50( 390,000/ 5,00 $ 1,141,600/ $
Travis Reese 12,500 () $ 52,21¢ 65,000/ 5,00 $ 190,850/ $
Q) A total of 17,500 stock options were exerdibg these persons during the fiscal year endeteBSdyer 30, 2006

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' feaswe pay the expenses of our directors in attepdivard meetings. In May 31, 2006,
issued 10,000 options to each Director who is a begrof our audit committee and 5,000 options toather Directors. These options ha
strike price of $6.75 per share and expire in May12

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

We have a ongear employment agreement with Mr. Eric S. Langha {Langan Agreement"). The Langan Agreement eg¢hrough Apr
1, 2008 and provides for an annual base salary46D$00. The Langan Agreement also provides fotigiaation in all benefit plar
maintained by us for salaried employees. The Lafggneement contains a confidentiality provision amdagreement by Mr. Langan no
compete with us upon the expiration of the Langare&ment. We have not established Itexga incentive plans or defined benefit
actuarial plans.

We also have a thregar employment agreement with Mr. Travis Reese (Reese Agreement”). The Reese Agreement exténolsgt
February 1, 2007 and provides for an annual badseysaf $175,000. The Reese Agreement also proviimiegarticipation in all benefit pla
maintained by us for salaried employees. The R&gseement contains a confidentiality provision ardagreement by Mr. Reese nc
compete with us upon the expiration of the Reeseé&ment.

We have not established long-term incentive plardefined benefit or actuarial plans.
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ITEM 11 . SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain informatianDecember 15, 2006, with respect to the benéfiwimership of shares of Common St
by (i) each person known to us who owns beneficialbre than 5% of the outstanding shares of Com&took, (ii) each of our directors, (
each of our executive officers and (iv) all of @xecutive officers and directors as a group. Untglerwise indicated, each stockholder
sole voting and investment power with respect toshares shown. As of December 15, 2006, there %88#,515 shares of common st
outstanding.

Name/Address Number of shares Title of class Percent of Clas€?

Eric S. Langan 1,189,865 Common stock 22.3%
505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

Robert L. Watters 35,000 Common stock 0.7%
315 Bourbon Street
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

Steven L. Jenkins 10,0000 Common stock 0.2%
16815 Royal Crest Drive

Suite 160

Houston, Texas 77058

Travis Reese 74,7754 Common stock 1.4%

505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

Alan Bergstrom 25,000) Common stock 0.5%
904 West Avenue, Suite 100
Austin, Texas 78701

All of our Directors and Officers as a Group ofdiv 1,334,640%) Common stock 25.1%
persons
E. S. Langan. L.P. 578,632 Common stock 10.9%

505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

Ralph McElroy 728,913 Common stock 13.7%
1211 Choquette
Austin, Texas, 78757

Blair Sanford 494,557®) Common stock 9.3%
One Market Street Suite 3750
San Francisco, CA 94105

Jeffrey Benton 283,1159) Common stock 5.3%
47 Summit Ave.
Summit, NJ

(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investment pdieeB21,233 shares that he owns directly. Mr. laanfas shared voting and investn
power for 578,632 shares that he owns indirecttpubh E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langan is the genpaatner of E. S. Langan, L.P. T
amount also includes options to purchase up to0P80shares of common stock that are presently sedile.

(2) Includes options to purchase up to 30,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
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(3) Includes options to purchase up to 10,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(4) Includes options to purchase up to 65,000 shareommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(5) Includes options to purchase up to 20,000 shareommon stock that are presently exercisable.

(6) Includes options to purchase up to 415,000eshaf common stock that are presently exercisable.

(7) Includes 678,913 shares of common stock an@0BOwarrants to purchase shares of common stotkathagpresently exercisable at $:
per share. This number specifically excludes sharelerlying two convertible debentures totaling2$0,000 which convertible at prices
$3.00 ($660,000) and $6.55 ($600,000), subjectdiosément under certain conditions. The terms othbdebentures provide, abs
shareholder approval, that the number of sharesiofommon stock that may be issued to or acquiyeMr. McEIroy upon conversion
any debenture shall not exceed 19.99% of the motaber of issued and outstanding shares of our constock.

(8) Includes 298,686 shares of common stock hel@umingame Equity Investors, LP, 40,540 sharesashmon stock held by Burlingal
Equity Investors Il, LP, and 155,331 shares of camratock held by Burlingame Equity Investors (Offis#) Ltd. Mr. Blair Sanford is tt
managing member of Burlingame Asset Management LiKich is the general partner of Burlingame Equityestors, LP, Burlingan
Equity Investors Il, LP, and Burlingame Equity Isters (Offshore) Ltd.

(9) Includes 61,851 shares of common stock helividhaially, 210,726 shares of common stock heldriectly by Fairfield Investment Gro
LLC that are issuable upon the conversion of a edibde debenture, and 10,538 held indirectly byrffedd Investment Group LLC. M
Jeffrey Benton is the Managing Director of Faidiéldvisors and has investment decision and votirtgaity for this entity.

(10) These percentages exclude treasury sharbke matculation of percentage of class.

We are not aware of any arrangements that couldtriesa change of control.

The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of RegulaeB is set forth in ITEM 5 herein.

ITEM 12 . CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thatlusiness affairs will be conducted in all respdwt standards applicable to publicly |
corporations and that we will not enter into anjufa transactions and/or loans between us and finers, directors and 5% shareholc
unless the terms are no less favorable than coelldbtained from independent, third parties and tlapproved by a majority of ¢
independent and disinterested directors. In ow vl of the transactions described below meet standard.

In May 2002, we loaned $100,000 to Eric Langan wehour Chief Executive Officer. The promissory niteinsecured, bears interest at :
and is amortized over a period of ten years. Ttie oontains a provision that in the event Mr. Lantgaves the Company for any reason
note immediately becomes due and payable in fhie Balance of the note was $70,208 at Septemb&088, and is included in other as:
in our balance sheet.
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On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured ConvertibleebBture to Ralph McElroy (the Holder), a greatent10% shareholder, for the princ
sum of $660,000 bearing interest at the rate of p2¥annum, with a maturity date of August 1, 2008der the terms of the Debenture,
are required to make monthly interest paymentsrivéigg September 1, 2005. We have the right to madée Debenture in whole or in par
any time during the term of the Debenture. At tleetion of the Holder, the Holder has the righteéquire the Debenture to be repaid in tt
(30) equal monthly installments commencing Febr2f196. The Holder has the option to convert atimy portion of the principal amount
the Debenture into shares of our common stock rateaof $3.00 per share, subject to adjustment ruceleéain conditions. The Debent
provides, absent shareholder approval, that thebeuwf shares of our common stock that may be isbyeaus or acquired by the Holder u
conversion of the Debenture shall not exceed 19.98%he total number of issued and outstanding eshaxf our common stock. T
Debenture is secured by certain of our assets.tidddily, we issued Mr. McElroy warrants to purch&®,000 shares of our common stoc
an exercise price of $3.00 per share until July2B®8. The shares of Common Stock underlying tivejpal amount of the Debenture and
Warrants had piggyback registration rights and tmexeegistered with SEC on September 1, 2005.

On April 28, 2006, we entered into convertible debees with three shareholders, one of which igeatgr than 10% shareholder, f
principal sum of $825,000. The term is for two yeand the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieh of the holders, the holders have
right to convert (subject to certain limitationd)@ any portion of the principal amount of theb@atures into shares of our common stock
rate of $6.55 per share, which approximates theimjpprice of our stock on April 28, 2006. The daioees provide, absent shareho
approval, that the number of shares of our comntonksthat may be issued by us or acquired by tHden® upon conversion of t
debentures shall not exceed 19.99% of the totalbeurof issued and outstanding shares of our constaok. The shares of Common St
underlying the principal amount of the debenturad piggyback registration rights and were registevigh SEC in June 2006. The proce
of the debentures were used for the acquisitiont Jéentures, Inc.

Subsequent to fiscal year end, on November 9, 2@8@6entered into convertible debentures with tteleareholders for a principal sum
$600,000. The term is for two years and the intewe is 12% per annum. At the election of thedbdd, the holders have the right to cor
(subject to certain limitations) all or any portiohthe principal amount of the debentures intarsba@f our commostock at a rate of $7.
per share, which was higher than the closing pofceur stock on November 9, 2006. The debenturesige, absent shareholder apprc
that the number of shares of our common stockrtteat be issued by us or acquired by the holders apowersion of the debentures shall
exceed 19.99% of the total number of issued anstanding shares of our common stock. The procektteeaebentures were used for
acquisition of a 51% ownership interest of Playrm@entlemen’s Club LLC.
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ITEM 13. EXHIBITS
Exhibit 14- Code of Ethics.

Exhibit 21- Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Exhibit 31.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Rick’Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation requiogdRule 13at4(1) ol
Rule 15d - 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act984, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Rick’Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation pursuanection 906 of tt

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 1Bl 63.

ITEM 14 . PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fesd pr accrued for professional services rendeyed/hitley Penn LLP for the audit
our annual financial statements for fiscal year&86d fiscal year 2005 and the aggregate feesgpaidcrued for auditelated services and

other services rendered by Whitley Penn LLP fardig/ear 2006 and fiscal year 2005.

2005
Audit fees $ $ 137,52¢
Audit-related fees 8,10¢
Tax fees 12,55(
All other fees R
Total $ $ 158,18!

The category of “Audit fees” includes fees for amnual audit, quarterly reviews and services resatiar connection with regulatory

filings with the SEC, such as the issuance of cohiédters and consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes enygle benefit plan audits, internal control reviewd accounting consultation.

The category of “Tax fees” includes consultatiolated to corporate development activities.

All above audit services, audit-related serviced tax services were pepproved by the Audit Committee, which concludeat e
provision of such services by Whitley Penn LLP veasnpatible with the maintenance of that fisrihndependence in the conduct of
auditing functions. The Audit Committee’s outsidedaor independence policy provides for @aproval of all services performed by

outside auditors.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of Sectionf1B5¢d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant haseduhis report to be signed
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly atglkd, on December 27, 2006.

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.

/sl Eric S. Langan

By: Eric S. Langan

Director, Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Aistréport has been signed below by the followiagspns in the capacities and on
the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl Eric S. Langan

Eric S. Langan Director, Chief Executive Officer, President anded December 27, 2006
Financial Officer

/sl Travis Reese
Travis Reese Director and V.P.-Director of Technology December 27, 2006

/s/ Robert L. Watters
Robert L. Watters Director December 24, 2006

/sl Alan Bergstrom
Alan Bergstrom Director December 26, 2006

/s/ Steven Jenkins
Steven Jenkins Director December 22, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Rick’ Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiariespfaSeptember 3
2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statsmé operations, changes in stockholderglity, and cash flows for the years then er
These financial statements are the responsibifith® Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresspamian on these financi
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversightulo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet anidibtain reasonable assurance about whethdintecial statements are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hasewere we engaged to perform, an audit of itsrirdl control over financial reportir
An audit includes consideration of internal conwekr financial reporting as a basis for desigrangit procedures that are appropriate ir
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsaimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compang&snal control over financial reportir
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenp@ating the amounts and disclosi
in the financial statements, assessing the acaauptiinciples used and significant estimates madmanagement, as well as evaluating
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrecabove present fairly, in all material respedig, ¢onsolidated financial position of Rigk’
Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiaries aSegtember 30, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidatedts of their operations and their ¢
flows for the years then ended in conformity wittt@unting principles generally accepted in the &bhibtates of America.

/sl Whitley Penn LLI
Dallas, Texas
December 8, 2006
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:
Trade
Other, net
Marketable securities
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net

Other assets:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles
Definite lived intangibles, net
Other

Total other assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Line-of-credit
Total current liabilities

Other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt-related party
Long-term debt

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies

Minority interest

Temporary equity - Common stock, subject to puttdg160,000 and 180,000 shares, respective

Permanent stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares aa#ithrnone outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par, 15,000,000 shares auttibrz805,275 and 5,040,678 shares issuec

respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in trgaaticost

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30,

2006 2005
854,93; $ 480,33(
192,38t 310,69:
186,55 118,87:

22,24t 28,91¢
291,62 257,62
140,42 87,99
1,688,16 1,284,43

17,423,84 13,416,75

10,505,45 9,836,561
525,07¢ 126,26
460,33 365,01

11,490,86 10,327,83

30,602,87 $  25,029,01
554,97¢ $  1,034,50:

1,118,97. 852,86!
2,278,31! 1,349,89.
- 94,88¢
3,952,26: 3,332,15!
299,70: 193,64
1,386,90! ;
10,255,50 11,896,94
15,894,38 15,422,74
- 31,33
800,00( 675,00
58,05: 50,40
15,586,23 12,331,36
8,89¢ 15,57:
(450,91¢) (2,203,63)
15,202,26 10,193,71
1,293,78 1,293,78




Total stockholders' equity 13,908,48 8,899,93I

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 30,602,87 $ 25,029,01

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Continuing operations:
Revenues:
Sales of alcoholic beverages
Sales of food and merchandise
Service revenues
Internet revenues
Other

Total revenues

Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold

Salaries and wages

Other general and administrative:
Taxes and permits
Charge card fees
Rent
Legal and professional
Advertising and marketing
Depreciation and amortization
Insurance
Utilities
Other
Goodwill impairment

Total operating expenses

Income from continuing operations

Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Loss on sales of assets
Other

Income (loss) from continuing operations before aniy interest

Minority interest

Income (loss) from continuing operations

Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of a subsidiary

Income from discontinued operations

Net income (loss

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005
8,781,63! 5,431,04!
2,651,86: 1,688,04:

11,442,37 6,632,20.

801,39 787,61
809,94 285,49°

24,487,21 14,824,40
2,915,31; 1,865,63
7,081,661 5,200,97!
3,074,57 1,985,98!

485,34: 229,39°
1,150,33 558,43
865,11 685,29
1,176,27 752,86t
1,049,24 590,46t
420,45 218,34
621,05 392,58
2,576,62: 2,045,34!
79,84 -

21,495,83 14,525,32

2,991,38; 299,08
25,79¢ 33,43
(1,057,02)) (699,67¢)
(68,139 ]
(170,641 (1,149
1,721,37 (368,319
31,33 9,472
1,752,71. (358,84:)
- (148,29

- 291,98"

- 143,69:
1,752,71  $ (215,149




Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income (loss), basic

Net income (loss), diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outsigndin
Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.

$ 03¢ $ (0.09)
$ - 3 0.04
$ 03¢ $ (0.08)
$ 035 $ (0.08)
4,640,49 3,937,56!
5,065,96: 3,937,56!
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PERMANENT STO CKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at September 30, 2004

Shares issued
Stock warrants issued
Reclassification of temporary

equity - common stock subjec

to put rights

Net loss

Change in available-for-sale
securities

Comprehensive loss

Balance at September 30, 2005

Shares issued

Beneficial conversion

Change in temporary equity -
common stock subject to put
rights

Net income

Change in available-for-sale
securities

Comprehensive income

Balance at September 30, 2006

YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006 and 2005

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other Treasury Stock Total
Number Paid-In  Comprehensive Accumulated Number Stockholders
of
of Shares Amount  Capital Income Deficit Shares Amount Equity

4,608,67! $46,087 $11,273,14 $ 109,00: $ (1,988,48) 908,53($(1,293,78)$ 8,145,97

612,000 6,12C 1,624,76 : : - - 1,630,88
- - 106,65t - - - - 106,65¢
(180,000 (1,800 (673,200 - - - - (675,000
. . - - (215,149 - - (215,149

- - - (93,430 - - - (93,430

- - - - - - - (308,57¢)
5,040,67¢ 50,407 12,331,36 15,57:  (2,203,63) 908,53( (1,293,78)  8,899,93
74459 7,446 3,326,210 - - - - 3,333,65
- - 53,85¢ - - - - 53,85¢

20,00( 20C (125,200 - - - - (125,000

- - - - 1,752,71 - - 1,752,71

- - - (6,679 - - - (6,679

- - - - - - - 1,746,041
5,805,27' $58,05: $15,586,23 $ 8,89¢$ (450,916 908,53($(1,293,78)$ 13,908,48

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsisients.
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Cash flows from operating activities:

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from conitiguoperations to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization

Bad debts

Goodwill impairment
Beneficial conversion

Common stock issued for interest payment

Amortization of note discount
Loss on sales of assets
Minority interests

Deferred rent

Common stock issued for professional services
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable
Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisitions of business, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations
Purchases of property and equipment

Note receivable payments
Net cash used in investing activit|

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from sale of common stock

Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Payments on line-of-credit

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Cash flows from discontinued operations:
Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in discontinued operati

Net increase in cash and cash equival

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005

(Revised, see
Note C)

1,752,71. (358,84))
1,001,51: 573,70t
47,73¢ 16,76(
- 75,99t
79,84: -
20,94« -
47,96: -
35,55: 5,92t
68,13¢ -
(31,33) (9,472
106,05 173,60(
- 27,12(
(27,22, (179,58)
(3,777%) (24,88()
(155,919 975,43.
(216,42() 814,26!
2,725,77 2,090,083
(1,497,64) (2,650,00i)
- 550,00(
(1,641,73) (4,242,36))
28,53¢ 34,86(
(3,110,84)) (6,307,501
560,69- 928,76
1,863,06! 4,762,001
(1,569,19) (889,56
(94,889 -
759,67. 4,801,19
- 200,04.
- (402,58
- (176,089
- (378,63))
374,60:. 205,08
480,33( 275,24:
854,93. 480,33(




Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 1,045,44. $ 695,96:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Non-cash transactions:

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynparchased a 9,000 square foot office building$612,739, payable with
$86,279 cash at closing and a $426,460 fifteen-geanissory note, bearing interest at 7%.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Caoynparchased a club in New York for $7,775,000,gtdg with $2,500,000 cash
closing and a fiverear secured convertible promissory note, bearitgrést at 4%, in the amount of $5,125,000, anis&etion costs
$150,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, 12,0@@eshof restricted common stock were issued as eopsation pursuant to
consulting agreement for a total value of $27, 2@ were issued as part of the transaction cdstiedeto the club in New York.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Caynparchased a club in Charlotte for $1,000,00§apke with a $325,000 seven-
year secured promissory note, bearing interes¥gtand 180,000 shares of stock valued at $675,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the Caynparchased property located at 9009 Airport Bhouston for $1,300,0C
payable with $500,000 cash at closing and 160,686es of restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, ther sdltbe New York club converted $1,925,000 of piral from the related promissc
note into 350,000 shares of restricted common stock

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the hofde convertible debenture converted $47,9621t&rest owed into 10,097 share
restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the Coynparchased a club in San Antonio for $2,900,@@¥able with $600,000 cast
closing and four promissory notes totaling $2,300,0

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2006 and 2005
A. Nature of Business
Rick’'s Cabaret International, Inc. (the “Companig)a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. Then@any currently owns and operz
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment,tagsant, and bar operations. These nightclubsogiadd in Houston, Austin and San Anto
Texas, as well as Minneapolis, Minnesota, Charldtath Carolina, and New York, New York. The Compalso owns and operates sev
adult entertainment Internet websites. The Compacgtporate offices are located in Houston, Texas.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of the Company’significant accounting policies consistently @mplin the preparation of the accompanying conatdi
financial statements follows:

Basis of Accounting

The accounts are maintained and the consolidatedidial statements have been prepared using theshtasis of accounting in accorda
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Samt intercompany accounts
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymaiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptionsftbat eertain reported amounts in the financiatesteents and accompanying na
Actual results could differ from these estimated assumptions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith a maturity of three months or less when pasgud to be cash equivalents
September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company had tirsuestments. The Company maintains deposits pifiria one financial institutior
which may at times exceed amounts covered by insergrovided by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insura@oeporation (“FDIC”). At
September 30, 2006 and 2005, the uninsured pasfitimese deposits approximated $54,000 and $27r@68pectively. The Company has
incurred any losses related to its cash on depdtitfinancial institutions.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued
Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts receivable trade is primarily comprisedcoddit card charges, which are generally convertedash in two to five days afte
purchase is made. The Compangccounts receivable other is comprised of empl@advances and other miscellaneous receivable:
longterm portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakmaets. The Company recogn
interest income on notes receivable based on thestef the agreement and based upon managesraraluation that the notes receivable
interest income will be collected. The Company geipes allowances for doubtful accounts or notesnytased on management judgrn
circumstances indicate that accounts or noteswaiks will not be collected. The $70,000 due froaufius Entertainment as of Septembe
2006 and 2005 was collateralized by 3,000,000 shafeTaurus Entertainment (now known as "Bluestealth, Inc.”). The Compal
foreclosed on the collateralized shares in Aug0862 As such, the Company presently owns the stargdas the ability to sell them in
open market. As of September 30, 2006, the valubeo$hares totals approximately $150,000. As theuat due has been fully collaterali;
since the note receivable agreement was enterethar@ompany believes such collateral will fullyisiy such amount due, no allowance
been provided nor is deemed necessary as of Septe36b 2006 and 2005. The Company intends to aehiellectibility either throug
repurchase of the shares by Bluestar Health, inisy selling the shares in the open market orpnizate transaction.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at September 30, 2006 an8 26Asist of common stock. Statement of Financi@ointing Standards (“SFASNo.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg@ecurities requires certain investments be recorded atvéline or amortize
cost. The appropriate classification of the invesita in marketable equity is determined at the torh@urchase and revaluated at ea
balance sheet date. As of September 30, 2006 a0 22 Company’s marketable securities were dladsas available-fosale, which ai
carried at fair value, with unrealized gains anss&s reported as other comprehensive income wvihbirstockholderséquity section of tF
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Theotosarketable equity securities sold is determinada specific identification basis. 1
fair value of marketable equity securities is basadquoted market prices. There has been no rdatjams or losses related to market
securities for the year ended September 30, 200&rkéfable securities held at September 30, 2006 20tib have a cost basis
approximately $13,000.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @winpany merchandise. Inventories are carried ataer of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Provsior depreciation and amortization are made ustrajghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteseful lives or terms of the applicable leaswsléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeBtsniture, equipment and leasehold improvemenis leatimated useful lives between
and ten years. Expenditures for major renewals laetierments that extend the useful lives are diggth Expenditures for norn
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incufineccdbt of assets sold or abandoned and the relatednulated depreciation are elimini
from the accounts and any gains or losses are etiangcredited in the accompanying statement ofatipes of the respective period.

Gooduwill and Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. X@&odwill and Other Intangibles Asseta/hich addresses the accounting for goodwill atteb
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill atahgible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an ani
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFASIMA. effective October 1, 2001. The Companghnual evaluation was performed &
September 30, 2006, based on a projected discouagtdflow method using a discount rate determimethanagement to be commenst
with the risk inherent in the current business nhotliee Company determined that the goodwill reldtethe acquisition of Bobbg’Novelty
Inc. was impaired and charged $79,841 against tipgrexpenses. All of the Compasygoodwill and intangible assets relate to the taigh
segment. Definite lived intangible assets are ameton a straight-line basis over their estimditezs. Fully amortized assets are writteffi-
against accumulated amortization.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise and seraicé® point-ofsale upon receipt
cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes revenue for VIP membershipgeccordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No.41Revenue Recognitiotby
deferring and recognizing over the estimated mesfijerusage period. Management estimates that thighted average useful lives
memberships are 12 and 24 months for annual agtthlié memberships, respectively. The Company doesack membership usage by t
of membership, however it believes these livesameropriate and conservative, based on managesmlembwledge of its client base ¢
membership usage at the clubs.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from myrshbscriptions to its online entertainment sitégem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received fioenthird party hosting company or from the creditd company, usually two to three d
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyideot refundable. The Compamgcognizes Internet auction revenue when paymi
received from the credit card as revenues are emnéd estimable nor collection deemed probable frithat point.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued
Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primariljngosed of costs related to public advertisements giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing emges are expensed as incurred and are includexperating expenses in !
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiamethod in accordance with SFAS No. 1@g;counting for Income TaxeDeferre(
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for titeré tax consequences attributable to differemsween the financial statement carn
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrthespective tax bases. Deferred tax assets dpitities are measured using enacted tax
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeanshith those temporary differences are expectduetoecovered or settled. The effec
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changevirrates is recognized in income in the period ihaudes the enactment date. In additic
valuation allowance is established to reduce arfigrog tax asset for which it is determined thag itnore likely than not that some portior
the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income in acooedavith the provisions of SFAS No. 13Rgporting Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income andsgébsses) on available-feele marketable securities and is presented i
consolidated statements of changes in stockholéersty.

Earnings Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings per share in acamdeith SFAS No. 12&arnings Per ShareSFAS No. 128 provides for the calcula
of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basidrggsrper share includes no dilution and is compbtedividing income available to comrr
stockholders by the weighted average number of comsihares outstanding for the period. Diluted easiper share reflect the poter
dilution of securities that could share in the @aga of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of shardsntag arise from outstanding dilutive common stegkrants (the number of which

computed using the “treasury stock method”) andnflmutstanding convertible debentures (the numbextath is computed using thef
converted method”). Diluted EPS considers the gakdilution that could occur if the Comparsybutstanding common stock warrants

convertible debentures were converted into comnocksthat then shared in the Compangarnings (as adjusted for interest expense

would no longer occur if the debentures were caeddr
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued

Net earnings applicable to common stock and theghted - average number of shares
computations are summarized in the table thatvidlo

(continued)

used for basic and dileéedings per she

2006 2005

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Net earnings (loss) applicable to common stockhslde $ 1,752,71. $ (215,149

Average number of common shares outstanding 4,640,49' 3,937,56!
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 03¢ $ (0.05)
Diluted earnings per share:

Net earnings (loss) for diluted EPS computation $ 1,752,71.  $ (215,149
Average number of common shares outstanding:

Common shares outstanding 4,640,49! 3,937,56!

Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercifgvarrants and options (1) 425,46:

Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversidulebentures (2) - -
Total average number of common shares outstandied for dilution 5,065,96: 3,937,56!
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.3t $ (0.0%)

(1) All outstanding warrants and options were cdesed for the EPS computation.

(2) Convertible debentures (principal and accrugdrest) outstanding at September 30, 2006 and #88b6ng $2,502,633 and $660,0
respectively, were convertible into common stocl @rice of $4.75 and $6.55 per share in 2006 &@03per share in 2005, but none v
dilutive in 2006 or 2005 (based on average balanoestanding).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In accordance with the reporting requirements oASHo. 107,Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instrunten the Compan
calculates the fair value of its assets and liadi whichqualify as financial instruments under this statetrend includes this additior
information in the notes to consolidated financsgtements when the fair value is different thaa tlarrying value of these financ
instruments. The estimated fair value of accouateivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilégsoximate their carrying amounts
to the relatively short maturity of these instrurtserThe carrying value of short and lotegm debt also approximates fair value since f
instruments bear market rates of interest. Norteexe instruments are held for trading purposes.




Table of Content
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued

Stock Options

At September 30, 2006, the Company has stock aptatstanding, which are described more fully ineNld. The Company accounts for
stock options under the recognition and measurementiples of Accounting Principles Board (“APBQpinion No. 25,Accounting fo
Stock Issued to Employeesd related Interpretations. The following tablasirates the effect on net income and earningsspare if th
Company had applied the fair value recognition mions of SFAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatitin stockbase:

employee compensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgtere data as if a fair value accounting methatldeen used to account for stdukse:
compensation:

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005

Net income (loss), as report $ 1,752,71. $ (215,149
Less total stock-based employee compensation egmiisrmined under the fair value

based method for all awards (611,409 (549,16Y
Pro forma net income (loss) $ 1,141,300 $ (764,31)
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic - as reported $ 0.3t $ (0.05)

Diluted - as reported $ 0.3t $ (0.05)

Basic - pro forma $ 0.2t $ (0.19)

Diluted - pro forma $ 0.2z $ (0.19)

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Starsl@oard (“FASB”) issued interpretation 46R (“FINR®G, a revision to interpretation .
(“FIN 46™), Consolidation of Variable Interest EntitiesIN 46R clarifies some of the provisions of FIB dnd exempts certain entities fr
its requirements. FIN 46R was effective at the efhthe first interim period ending after March Z804. The adoption of FIN 46 and F
46R did not have a material impact on the Compacgisolidated financial statements.




Table of Content
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - catnued
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123Rare-Based Paymentwhich is a revision of SFAS 123ccounting for StocBaset
Compensationand supersedes APB Opinion Z&counting for Stock Issued to Employe&FAS 123R focuses primarily on shéase!
payments for employee services, requiring thesenpays to be recorded using a fair-value-based rdeffire use of APB 25'intrinsic valu
method of accounting for employee stock optionsbeen eliminated. As a result, the fair value otktoptions granted to employees in
future will be required to be expensed. The immacthe results of operations of the Company willdependent on the number of opti
granted and the fair value of those options. FerGbmpany, SFAS 123R will be effective beginningader 1, 2006.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiegbform to the current year presentation.

C. Cash Flow Statement Revision

The Company has separately disclosed in the acaoyipgpconsolidated statements of cash flows theatjpg, investing, and financi
portions of the cash flows attributable to its distinued operations, which in the prior year wgsoreed on a combined basis in a sil
amount. As a result, the accompanying consolidedst flow statement for fiscal 2005 has been labaterevised.

D. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

September 30,

2006 2005
Buildings and land $ 12,833,13 $ 9,531,11
Leasehold improvements 4,704,24! 4,099,66!
Furniture 1,204,75 939,55(
Equipment 2,916,68! 2,079,89!
Total property and equipment 21,658,822 16,650,22
Less accumulated depreciation 4,234,98: 3,233,46!
Property and equipment, net $ 17,423,84 $ 13,416,75

For the years ended September 30, 2006 and 208%;dmpany capitalized approximately $5,000 and I8 respectively, of interest
property and equipment in leasehold improvements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thiofahg:

September 30,
2006 2005

Indefinite useful lives:

Goodwill $ 2,774,74; $ 1,898,92

Licenses 7,730,711 7,937,63.

Amortization
Period

Definite useful lives:

Discounted leases 18 & 6 years 146,56¢ 43,02:

Non-compete agreements 5 years 440,00( 100,00(

Less accumulated amortization (61,499 (16,760)
Total goodwill and intangible assets $ 11,030,52 $ 9,962,82:

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization ate®aiper 30, 2006 for each of the years ir
five-year period ending September 30, 2011 ande#ftsr is 2007 - $106,074, 2008 - $106,074, 208206,074, 2010 - $91,074, 2011 -
$70,241, and thereafter - $45,539.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assetsnpairily consist of sexually oriented business lieanim New York and North Carolina, wh
were obtained as part of the acquisitions. Thesméies are the result of zoning ordinances, thusalid indefinitely, subject to filing annt
renewal applications, which are done at minimatststhe Company. As cash flows are expected mtiraee indefinitely, in accordance w
SFAS No. 142Goodwill and Other Intangible Assetshe licenses are determined to have indefiniefuldives. The discounted cash fl
method of income approach was used in calculatingrélue of these licenses in a business combinatio
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

September 30,

2006 2005

Notes payable at 9%, mature February 2 $ 194191 $ 2,035,30:
Notes payable at 12%, mature March 2 139,15 140,80:
Note payable at 9%, matures March 2 - 289,30t
Note payable with imputed interest at 7%, matuagsidry 2006, unsecur: - 214,64¢
Notes payable at 11%, mature August 2 1,256,58! 1,335,33
Notes payable at 10%, mature December 2014 anédaR015 2,816,66! 2,868,22.
Note payable at 7%, matures October 2012, coll@erhby assets of R(

Entertainment North Carolina, Inc. 290,91! 325,00(
Note payable at 7.5%, matures August 2 1,604,88! -
Note payable at 12%, matures March 2 400,00( -
Note payable at 12%, matures February 2z 200,00( -
Convertible note payable to related party at 12%tunes August 2008,

collaterized by shares of Citation Land LLC and R{aldings, Inc. 561,90¢ 559,72(
Convertible note payable at 4%, matures May 20alateralized by assets

RCI Entertainment New York, Inc. 2,444.28: 5,042,36:
Convertible notes payable to related party at Ii2%ture April 2008 825,00( -
Convertible note payable at 10%, matures Februd®@ 2unsecured 1,000,95 -
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2 396,47¢ 414,05
Note payable at 4.9%, matures December 2010, eddliied by an equipme 29,82¢ -
Note payable at 8.99%, matures October 2007, eodlbized by a vehicl 12,16’ 22,52
Total debt 13,920,73 13,246,83
Less current portion 2,278,31! 1,349,89.
Total long-term debt $ 11,642,41 $ 11,896,94

* Collateralized by real esta
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
F. Long-term Debt - continued

In June, July and November 2004, the Company beauo$pd 00,000, $100,000, and $900,000, respectifrelyy an unrelated individual at t
rate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Theseiimgs were an addition to a previous note. Dufiagal year 2006, the monthly paym
of principal and interest of the new borrowing 5834, and $3,445 for the old note. The notessaceired by properties located at 2
Andtree, Austin and at 5718 Fairdale, Houston, $exehe money received from this new financing wasdufor the acquisition a
renovation of the New York club.

On November 15, November 17, and December 30, 2884Company borrowed $590,000, $1,042,000, an2if$1000, respectively, from
financial institution at an annual interest ratel6% over a 10 year term. The monthly paymentsiotjpal and interest are $5,694, $10,(
and $12,256, respectively. The notes are securezlibyproperties located at 2023 Sable Lane, Sanmat 410 N. Sam Houston Pkwy.
and 3113 Bering Drive, Houston, Texas. The monegived from this financing was used for the acdjoisiand renovation of the New Y
club.

In December 2004, as a part of the purchase 00@09quardeot office building, the Company obtained a fiftegear promissory not
secured by the building, in the amount of $426 &0 interest at 7%.

As part of the purchase of the North Carolina chile, Company issued 180,000 shares of the Compaayhmon stock valued at $3.75
share and entered into a seven year promissoryindtee amount of $325,000 bearing interest atréie of 7% per annum. The nott
payable with an initial payment due November 1,3Q1f interest only for the period of time from tHate of closing until October 31, 20
plus a principal reduction payment in the amoun$®{009. Thereafter, RCI Entertainment North Caaliinc., the Company’subsidiar
will make eightythree (83) successive equal monthly payments cormimgrDecember 1, 2005, of principal and interesthi@ amount ¢
$4,905 until paid in full. The note is secured hg Bssets of RCI Entertainment North Carolina, lursuant to the terms of the note, o
after November 1, 2005, the holder shall have i, rbut not the obligation, to have the Companychase from the holder 4,285 shares
month, calculated at a price per share equal t85%8ntil the holder has received a total of $1,000,from the sale of the shares less
amount of the note. At the Compasyélection during any given month, the Company mittyer buy the monthly shares or, if the Comg
elects not to buy the monthly shares from the holdhen the holder shall sell the monthly sharethénopen market. Any deficiency betw
the amount which the holder receives from the gathe monthly shares and the value of the shdrai Ise paid by the Company within th
(3) days of the date of sale of the monthly shdteg that particular month. The Compaspbligation to purchase the monthly shares
the holder shall terminate and cease at such tikeaholder has received a total of $1,000,00 fitwe sale of the shares, less the amot
the note. This obligation was satisfied on May 2006 when all shares had been sold for more th#@s,860.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
F. Long-term Debt - continued

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdcooavertible debenture with a greater than 10%e$twdder for a principal sum
$660,000. The debenture is convertible into 220 Sigdres of the Comparsytcommon stock at a conversion price of $3.00 paresat th
option of the holder (subject to certain limitas)nThe term is for three years and interest satg iL2% per annum. The debenture matur
August 1, 2008. The Company also issued 50,000ckakde warrants at $3.00 per share in relatiorhi® debenture. The warrants
exercisable at any time within the period beginrimgJuly 22, 2005 and expiring on July 22, 2008 Vhlue of the discount on note payi
was estimated to be $106,656 at the date of gsang & Black-Scholes option-pricing model with fokbowing assumptions:

Volatility 13€%
Expected life 3 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 4.31%

For the year ended September 30, 2006 and 200&dimpany recorded $35,552 and $5,925, respectigéipterest expense. The deben
is secured by the Company’s ownership in Citatiand, LLC and RCI Holdings, Inc., both are whadhwned subsidiaries of the Company.

The Company has accounted for this transactionruaderging Issues task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.200Application of Issue No. 98-c
Certain Convertible InstrumentsThe value of the embedded beneficial conversatuie on the note payable was estimated to b&855
which was calculated using the EITF Issue No538edel. For the years ended September 30, 2008G0% the Company recorded $20,
and $0, respectively, of interest expense relatehe value of the embedded beneficial conversatufe.

As a part of the purchase the New York club, thenBany obtained a $5.125 million promissory noteripgasimple interest at the rate
4.0% per annum with a balloon payment at the erfivefyears. $2,000,000 of the principal amounthaf promissory note is convertible i
shares of restricted common stock at prices ranfimg $4.00 to $7.50 per share. As of Septembe620@ 2005, $1,925,000 and $(
principal was converted into 350,000 and O shaféssoCompany’s restricted common stock, respelgtive

On February 6, 2006, the Company issued a Conleilibbenture (the “Debentured an unrelated investment group for the princfuah o
$1,000,950 bearing interest at the rate of 10%apeum, with a maturity date of February 1, 2009d&inthe terms of the Debenture,
Company is required to make three quarterly intepagments beginning May 1, 2006. Thereafter, tben@any is required to make n
equal quarterly principal and interest paymentsaiy time after 366 days from the date of issuardbis Debenture, the Company has
right to redeem the Debenture in whole or in parirdy the term of the Debenture. At the electionhef holder, the holder has the right at
time to convert all or any portion of the princigalinterest amount of the Debenture into sharah@Companys common stock at a rate
$4.75 per share, which approximates the closintepsf the Compang’stock on February 6, 2006. The proceeds of theeitere was used

payoff certain debt and increase working capita.oh September 30, 2006 and 2005, the holder tredeel to convert $47,961 and $0
interest into 10,097 and 0 shares of the Compaegicted common stock, respectively.
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F. Long-term Debt - continued

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conlikrtdebentures with three shareholders, one ofhvis a greater than 10% sharehol
for a principal sum of $825,000. The term is foptyears and the interest rate is 12% per annunthéelection of the holders, the holc
have the right to convert (subject to certain latidgns) all or any portion of the principal amowft the debentures into shares of
Company’s common stock at a rate of $6.55 per shawveh approximated the closing price of the Comypa stock on April 28, 2006. T
debentures provide, absent shareholder approvat,ttie number of shares of the Compangobmmon stock that may be issued by
Company or acquired by the holders upon conversidhe debentures shall not exceed 19.99% of tta namber of issued and outstanc
shares of the Company’s common stock. $600,000efdebentures is secured by the Compapybperty located at 9009 Airport Blv
Houston, Texas. The proceeds of the debentureswserefor the acquisition of Joint Ventures, Inc.

On August 24, 2006, as part of the purchase ofib il San Antonio, Texas (formerly known as “Cefuiels”), the Company obtained thi
promissory notes: a $400,000 note bearing simpkrast at the rate of 12% per annum and maturingcMa007, $200,000 note bear
interest at the rate of 12% per annum maturing daalpr2007, and $1,700,000 note bearing interetsteatate of 7.5% with a balloon paym
at end of five years. These notes payable are asgdiyrthe real estate.

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of fiblllowing:

2007 $ 2,278,31
2008 5,017,32i
2009 1,252,29
2010 662,12.
2011 1,065,90!
Thereafter 3,644,76
Total maturities of long-term debt $ 13,920,73

G. Income Taxes

Income tax expense for the years presented differs the “expectedfederal income tax expense computed by applyinglti& federe
statutory rate of 34% to earnings before incomegdxr the years ended September 30, as a reshi &llowing:

2006 2005
Computed expected tax expense (benefit) $ 595,927 $ (73,15))
State income taxes 52,58 (6,459
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance (648,50.) 79,60"
Total income tax expense $ - $ -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
G. Income Taxes - continued

The significant components of the Company’s detetas assets and liabilities at September 30 afellasvs:

2006 2005
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Goodwill $ (329,71) $ (138,15()
Property and equipment (243,22() (254,785
Net operating losses 549,39( 949,26¢
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (3,297) (5,762)
Other 225,68: 78,66«
Valuation allowance (198,849 (629,23()
$ - $

The Company has established a valuation allowaockilly reserve the deferred tax assets at Septeld®e2006 and 2005 due to
uncertainty of the timing and amounts of futureatale income. At September 30, 2006, the Companynkeadperating loss carryforwards

approximately $1,485,000, which expire in 2017 tiglo 2026.

H. Stock Options

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Oglam (the “1995 Plan"jor employees and directors. In August 1999, then@any
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Bl&dllectively, “the Plans”)The options granted under the Plans may be eitiventive
stock options, or nonualified options. The Plans are administered leyBbard of Directors or by a compensation commidtieie Board ¢
Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclugiwever to select individuals to receive grantggtablish the terms of the options grante
each participant, provided that all options grargbdll be granted at an exercise price equal teast 85% of the fair market value of

common stock covered by the option on the grarg datl to make all determinations necessary or alolésinder the Plans.
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H. Stock Options - continued

Following is a summary of options for the yearsesh@eptember 30:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
2006 Exercise Price 2005 Exercise Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 878,000 $ 2.47 908,00( $ 2.3¢
Granted 40,00( 6.7¢5 90,00( 2.8(C
Forfeited - - (50,000 2.4¢
Exercised (190,500 2.5E ( 70,000 2.21
Outstanding at end of year 727,500 $ 2.7C 878,000 $ 247
Exercisable at end of year 662,500 $ 2.4F 583,000 $ 2.4C
Weighted-average remaining contractual life 2.54 year 2.84 year

As of September 30, 2006, the range of exercisegifior outstanding options was $1.40 -$6.75.

The Company has elected to follow APB No. 25 arated interpretations in accounting for its emplkgtock options because the altern:
fair value accounting provided for under SFAS N23Accounting for Stock Based Compensatiaequires the use of option valuat
models that were not developed for use in valumgleyee stock options. See footnote B for relatedldsures.

Under APB No. 25, no compensation expense is recbwhen the exercise price of the Compargmployee stock option equals the
value of the underlying stock on the date of gr@&@umpensation equal to the intrinsic value of empgdostock options is recorded when
exercise price of the stock option is less thanftlie value of the underlying stock on the dategodint. Any resulting compensatior
amortized to expense over the remaining vestinggerof the options on a straigliie basis. For the years ended September 30, 206¢
2005, no amounts were recorded to compensatiomsgpelated to stock options issued to employees.

Information regarding pro forma net income is regdiby SFAS 123, and has been determined as iCtmpany had accounted for
employee stock options under the fair value methfddFAS No. 123. The fair value of these options wstimated at the date of grant usi
Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the follogyweighted average assumptions:
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H. Stock Options - continued

2006 2005
Volatility 132% 137%
Expected lives 3 year 3 year
Expected dividend yield - -
Risk free rates 5.04% 4.31%

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed fa insestimating the fair value of traded optionsiich have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input ofhygsubjective assumptions including
expected stock price volatility. Because changeghi subjective input assumptions can materialfgcafthe fair value estimate,
management's opinion, the existing models do ncessarily provide a reliable single measure ofélrevalue of its employee stock options.

I. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and facilitieder operating leases, of which rent expense apgsoximately $1,150,000 a
$558,000 for the years ended September 30, 200@@0&]| respectively.

Rent expense for the Compasyoperating leases, which generally have escalaéintals over the term of the lease, is recordéaguthe
straightline method over the initial lease term wherebyegnal amount of rent expense is attributed to eactod during the term of t
lease, regardless of when actual payments are rG@aferally, this results in rent expense in exoégssh payments during the early yea
a lease and rent expense less than cash paymeheslater years. The difference between rent esgoeecognized and actual rental payrr
is recorded as other long-term liabilities in tlmsolidated balance sheets.

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $epés 30, 2006 are as follows:

2007 $ 974,84
2008 998,91«
2009 884,11-
2010 653,88
2011 654,09:
Thereafter 7,999,66.
Total future minimum lease obligations $ 12,165,51
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
I. Commitments and Contingencies - continued
Legal Matters
Sexually Oriented Business Ordinance of Houstora$e

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofudton passed a comprehensive new Ordinance ragulie location of and the cond
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the “Ordindnhc€&he Ordinance established new minimum distanceasually Oriented Busines:
may be located from schools, churches, playgrowamis other sexually oriented businesses. There wererovisions in the Ordinan
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibesses from the effect of the new Ordinance 98i71the Company was informed 1
one of its Houston locations at 3113 Bering Driaefd to meet the requirements of the Ordinanceamedrdingly the renewal of its busin
license at the location was denied.

The Ordinance provided that a business which wagedea renewal of its operating permit due to clesng distance requirements undel
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafior a period of time (the “Amortization Periodf)the owner were unable to recoup,
the effective date of the Ordinance, its investmianthe business that was incurred through the détine passage and approval of
Ordinance.

The Company filed a request with the City of Houstequesting an extension of time during which apens at the north Houston facil
could continue under the Amortization Period prmns of the Ordinance since the Company was urtaliecoup its investment prior to
effective date of the Ordinance. An administratiearing was held by the City of Houston to detemiive appropriate Amortization Perioc
be granted to the Company. At the Hearing, the Gompvas granted an amortization period that hasedieen reached. The Company
the right to appeal any decision of the hearingiaffto the district court in the State of Texas.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitodility of the entire Ordinance w
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the Wstrict Court for the Southern District of Texds$puston Division, struck down certi
provisions of the Ordinance, including the prousimandating a 1,500 foot distance between a cldbsahools, churches and other sext
oriented businesses, leaving intact the provisiah® 750 foot distance as it existed prior to @rdinance.

The City of Houston has appealed the District Ceunlings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. the event that the City of Houstor
successful in the appeal, the Company could beobabmpliance and such an outcome could have apraehimpact on the Company’
future. The Compang’ nightclub in the south Houston location has &vaérmit/license that expired in December 2006 pbrmits for th
north Houston location and the Bering Drive locatimve expired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texaif@nce, such as provisions governing the levéigbting in a sexually oriented busine
the distance between a customer and dancer wlglgdhcer is performing in a state of undress aogigions regarding the licensing
dancers and club managers that were upheld byotlm which may be detrimental to the Companyusiness. The Company, in concert
other sexually oriented businesses, are appedioggtaspects of the Ordinance.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
I. Commitments and Contingencies - continued

In November 2003, a three judge panel from thénFZfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opinivhich affirmed the Trial Cours ruling
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer isgjmm distances and licensing of dancers and. staE Court of Appeals, however, did
follow the Trial Courts ruling regarding the distance from which a cludyrbe located from a church or school. The CouAmbeals hel
that a distance measurement of 1,500 feet wouldpbeld upon a showing by the City of Houston tlsiclaims that there were alterna
sites available for relocating clubs could be satisated. The case was remanded for trial on tessof the alternative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could eaditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whiedre not decided at the trial level dur
the initial phase of the case. It is anticipateat these technical issues will be joined in thall@ourt. The City has not sought to modify
of the terms of the injunction against enforcenadrany location provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Gorutings in 1998 has been exhausted. Under thiirtgpbf the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, |
City of Houston has the burden of proof to showt,thiader the distance measurements contained iA38& ordinance, there are alter
sites available for relocation. The trial commenoadDecember 4, 2006. A decision from the Trial €dainot anticipated until some time
2007. In the event the City of Houston can medbutslen and prevails at trial, we would appeal thlhg. The effect of any potential adve
ruling on our operations in Houston is unknown. &dverse ruling would affect all sexually orientagsinesses in Houston. In that event
would change our method of operations to requireentiertainers to wear latex and bikini bottoms.il/management believes this poter
change will not have a meaningful effect on ourrafiens, as the effect would be to all similarljuated businesses, the effect is unknow
is possible an adverse ruling may allow for add#iloccompetition in the Houston market.

Other Legal Matters

On October 6, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the #2idicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-C15656 and style
Edward Jimenez, et al v. R's Cabaret International, Inc., et alThis is a wrongful death and personal injury eaasaction against tv
individuals, based upon negligence theories, amihagithe Company and the Company'sdefendants, all of which are now subsidiarie
the Company, based upon alleged “dram shop” vitati arising out of a tweehicle collision on August 1, 2006. The collisioccurred pric
to the Company acquiring Spiros Partners Ltd. SpRartners Ltd. owns and operates the Companyls Rgan Antonio. Plaintiffs inclu
the parents - one of whom was driving - of the juxenile decedents, one of the decedentinor siblings and another minor child, botl
whom were also passengers in the car that waskdtguthe allegedly intoxicated defendant driveaiftiffs are seeking unspecified dame
for past and future physical pain and sufferingntakanguish, physical impairment, loss of compasidp and consortium, funeral ¢
medical expenses, property damages, and exemmargges.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
I. Commitments and Contingencies - continued

Management believes that the Company is not litdslany of the damages and that they are covereatidysafe harborprovision set fort
in Section 106.14 of the Texas Alcoholic Beveragel€; which provides that certain compliant esthblisnts are not liable for the acts
their patrons. There does exist insurance covefi@ghis claim, although this insurance does natec@any exemplary damages awarded
those amounts beyond its limits. Management hagsedeany liability for this accident and is vigortwsiefending the lawsuit, which
presently in the beginning stages of the discoyeocess, a preliminary motion to dismiss two of @@mpanys subsidiaries having be
denied.

On June 2, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the #2ludicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-Q8592 and style
Richard P. Branson v. Spiros Partners, Ltd. dba Peathouse Clul. This action occurred prior to the Company acqgirSpiros Partne
Ltd. Spiros Partners Ltd. owns and operates the gaois Ricks San Antonio. This was a fraud, assault, abusgradess, invasion

privacy and slander action based upon the plaistéflegation that the Club intentionally took adteaye of and assaulted him while he

there on July 3, 2004, then subsequently was rag#glerfor his malicious prosecution by the Bexaufy District Attorney. Plaintiff soug
unspecified damages for past and future physical pad suffering, mental anguish, physical disapilfinancial injury and exempla
damages.

Management does not believe that it is liable foy af the damages. There was no insurance covdoagbe acts complained of by 1
plaintiff. Management denied any liability for tleeallegations and vigorously defended the law€it.December 13, 2006, the defendant’
motion for summary judgment (based upon the plaih&iving no evidence to support any of his coriter®) was granted in full. The plain
has 30 days to appeal.

On April 7, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the 8Qudicial District Court of Harris County, Texasyletl Cause No. 2004-18510harity Rene
Stevens, et al. vs. Lazaro Ernesto Alfonso, et Hhis is a wrongful death and personal injury @ttagainst two individuals based
negligence theories and five entertainment estabknts including the Company based on alleged “dilanp” violations arising from a two-
car collision. Plaintiffs have also sued Ford Mo@ompany under a theory of products liability. Ridis include the children of ti
decedents, a minor passenger and the mothers dadetedents. Plaintiffs are seeking unspecified d@sancluding physical pain a
suffering, mental anguish, pecuniary loss, pastfahde loss of companionship and consortium, lafssiental and intellectual function, p
and future physical impairment, reduction in eagn@apacity, increased education costs and expénciesiing funeral and medical co:
Subsequent to fiscal year end, on December 11, @iect to court § approval), the case was settled, which the Coynpanorded as oth
expense in the September 30, 2006 statement cdibqeEs.

One of the Company’s locations is currently beimeestigated by the Equal Employment Opportunity @ossion (“EEOC")as the result (
two (2) complaints which were filed with the EEO@ former employees. The complaints are that malpleyees were used to repl
female employees in certain positions at the pagicclub location. The Company has provided th©EBEwith the materials and informati
requested. The Company has fully cooperated wihrthestigation. A finding by the EEOC is not aigated until 2007.

F-25
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For all the above legal matters, no contingentrieseas liabilities have been recorded in the apamying balance sheets as such pote
losses are not deemed probable or estimable, thitheithe case discussed as settled on Decemb200d4.,

J. Line-of-credit

At September 30, 2005, the Company had availat$94888 unsecured line-ofedit with a bank. Interest was payable monthlytios
outstanding balance at a floating rate of primesdlib% (8.25% at September 30, 2005). During figeal 2006, the line-afredit was pai
off and was not renewed.

K. Segment Information

The following information is presented in accordangith SFAS No. 131Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise anét&
Information. The Company is engaged in adult night clubs andt a&shertainment websites (“Internet’Jhe Company has identified st
segments based on management responsibility anththee of the Company’products, services and costs. There are no mjtimctions it
geographical areas served as all operations atkeirUnited States. The Company measures segmefitt (poes) as income (loss) frc
operations. Total assets are those assets codttplleach reportable segment.
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The following table sets forth certain informatiabout each segment’s financial information foryear ended September 30:

2006 2005
Business segment sales:
Night clubs $ 23,683,62 $ 14,708,15
Internet 803,58t 788,51:
Discontinued operations - (672,26Y

$ 2448721 $ 14,824,40
Business segment operating income:

Night clubs $ 532193 $ 2,283,53!
Internet 130,51. 114,50(
General corporate (2,461,063 (2,098,95))
Discontinued operations - -

$ 2,991,38 $ 299,08(

Business segment capital expenditures:

Night clubs $ 3,590,91 $ 4,763,06!
Internet 7,35 58,15:¢
General corporate 1,478,46! 516,50(
Discontinued operations - (28,699

$ 5,076,73¢ $ 5,309,02
Business segment depreciation and amortization:

Night clubs $ 875,34: $ 455,69(
Internet 32,92( 34,23!
General corporate 140,98 122,27
Discontinued operations - (21,737

$ 1,049,24 $ 590,46¢

Business segment assets:

Night clubs $ 23,670,61 $ 19,037,10
Internet 112,09: 99,14¢
General corporate 6,820,16! 5,892,76i

Discontinued operations - -
$ 3060287 $  25,029,01
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RICK’S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
L. Common Stock

On October 11, 2005, 10,000 stock options wereaisest by one of the Compasydirectors for proceeds of $21,300. In Januan6268,00!
stock options were exercised by the Compamgtmployees for proceeds of $138,240 and in Fepr2@06, 10,000 stock options w
exercised by one of the Company’s directors for,428. Also, 30,000 shares of the Company’s comniocksvere sold to a noemploye:
for $75,000 in January 2006. In March 2006, a employee exercised 25,000 stock options for $64&&8Bthe seller of the New York cl
converted $675,000 of principal from the relatednpissory note into 150,000 shares of restrictedmaomstock. In April 2006, the Compe
issued 160,000 shares of common stock valued &,880 pursuant to the purchase of a building latatie9009 Airport Blvd., Housta
Texas. The seller of the New York club converte@®000 of principal from the related promissoryenaito 150,000 shares of restric
common stock in April and May 2006. During the mtenbf May and June 2006, 27,500 stock options e&egcised by the Comparsy’
employees and directors for proceeds of $63,981J@Wm 8, 2006, the Company issued 4,829 sharesnmion stock for $22,938 inter
owed. In July 2006, 4,000 and 10,000 stock optiwere exercised by an employee and a director o€trapany for proceeds of $10,250
$28,000, respectively. Also, the seller of the Néark club converted $350,000 of principal from ttedated promissory note into 50,(
shares of restricted common stock. On August 1628 Company issued 5,268 shares of common $twck25,023 interest owed.
August 2006, 29,000 stock options were exercisetinnyemployees of the Company for proceeds of #Hi2,.h September 2006, 25,(
stock options were exercised by one of the Compsa@yiployees for proceeds of $62,250.

M. Related Party Transactions

In May 2002, the Company loaned $100,000 to Eriedaen, Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Tla¢enis unsecured, bears intere:
11% and is amortized over a period of ten yearg fibte contains a provision that in the event Mandan leaves the Company for
reason, the note immediately becomes due and mayalfill. The balance of the note was approxinya$0,000 and $79,000 at Septen
30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and is includeatlier assets in the accompanying consolidatechbalsheets.

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdcooavertible debenture with a greater than 10%estedder for a principal sum
$660,000. The debenture is convertible into 220 Sigdres of the Comparsycommon stock at a conversion price of $3.00 paresat th
option of the holder (subject to certain limitats)nThe term is for three years and interest satg iL2% per annum. The debenture matur
August 1, 2008. The Company also issued 50,000cdatde warrants at $3.00 per share in relatiorhi® debenture. The warrants
exercisable at any time within the period beginrangJuly 22, 2005 and expiring on July 22, 2008 Vhlue of the discount on note payi
was estimated to be $106,656 at the date of gsang & Black-Scholes option-pricing model with fokbowing assumptions:

Volatility 13€%
Expected life 3 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 4.31%

For the year ended September 30, 2006 and 200&dimpany recorded $35,552 and $5,925, respectigéipterest expense. The deben
is secured by the Company’s ownership in Citatiand, LLC and RCI Holdings, Inc., both are whadyned subsidiaries of the Company.




Table of Content

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

M. Related Party Transactions - continued

The Company has accounted for this transactionrdBaierging Issues task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.200Application of Issue No. 98-c
Certain Convertible InstrumentsThe value of the embedded beneficial conversiatuire on the note payable was estimated to b&8%5
which was calculated using the EITF Issue No598edel. For the years ended September 30, 2008@0% the Company recorded $20,
and $0, respectively, of interest expense reladethe value of the embedded beneficial converseatufe. The shares of Common S
underlying the principal amount of the Debenture #me Warrants had piggyback registration rightd bacame registered with SEC
September 1, 2005.

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conlikrtdebentures with three shareholders, one ofhvis a greater than 10% sharehol
for a principal sum of $825,000. The term is footyears and the interest rate is 12% per annunthé\election of the holders, the holc
have the right to convert (subject to certain latidns) all or any portion of the principal amowftthe debentures into shares of
Company’s common stock at a rate of $6.55 per shaveh approximated the closing price of the Comypa stock on April 28, 2006. T
debentures provide, absent shareholder approvat,ttie number of shares of the Compangommon stock that may be issued by
Company or acquired by the holders upon conversidhe debentures shall not exceed 19.99% of tta namber of issued and outstanc
shares of the Company’s common stock. $600,000efdebentures is secured by the Compapybperty located at 9009 Airport Blv
Houston, Texas. The shares of Common Stock undertyie principal amount of the debentures had figgk registration rights and wi
registered with SEC in June 2006. The proceedsentiebentures were used for the acquisition ot J@ntures, Inc.

N. Employee Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the “Plamfich covers all of the Comparsy’corporate employees. The Plan allows
corporate employees to contribute up to the maximomunt allowed by law, with the Company makingatahing contribution of 3% of tl
employees$ salary. Expenses related to matching contribattorthe Plan approximated $39,000 and $28,00¢hfoyears ended Septem
30, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

O. Acquisitions and Dispositions

On September 30, 2004, the Company entered intock Burchase Agreement with an unrelated thirtypamhereby the Company sold all
its 510 shares of common stock of RCI Ventures, foic$15,000 cash and a $235,000 note receivaddeiry interest at a rate of 6% owv
five year period. The monthly payment related tie tiote receivable is $4,453. In M2Q06, the note receivable was restructured intote
receivable with principal of $230,000, intereseraf 7.5% over a ten year period. The monthly paymoé the restructured note is $2,730
As a part of the transaction, Trumps, Inc., a wholvned subsidiary of the Company, and Tantric Emises, Inc., a whollypwnec
subsidiary of RCI Ventures, Inc., entered into\&efijear lease agreement for the property locatesl/ a8 Fairdale, Houston, Texas.
Company has recorded a $163,739 deferred gairedetatthis transaction for the year ended Septe®@®e2004. The gain will be recogni:
upon collection of the note receivabléhe deferred gain is netted against the note rablgy included in other assets in the accompal
balance sheet.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
0. Acquisitions and Dispositions - continued

On January 18, 2005, the Company’s whallyned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment New York, Ire.New York corporation ("RCI Ne
York") completed the acquisition of Peregrine Epteses, Inc. (“Peregrine”which operated the Paradise Club in Midtown MararmgtiNev
York (50 West 33rd Street). Peregrine owns and atpsran adult entertainment cabaret located inowittManhattan. The cabaret clul
located near the Empire State Building and MadiSquare Garden, and is less than 10 blocks from §i&tpiare. The total consideratic
was for $7.775 million for the assets and stockhaf former Paradise Club, which had operated orsiteefor more than a decade. °
transaction consisted of $2.5 million in cash aBdl$5 million in a promissory note bearing simpiterest at the rate of 4.0% per annum
a balloon payment at the end of five years andstetion costs of $150,000. The Promissory Noteaisaple commencing 151 days a
closing as follows: (a) the payment of $58,333.88 month for twentyfeur (24) consecutive months; (b) the payment d3,$83.33 fo
twentyfour (24) consecutive months; (c) the payment &,$83.33 for twelve (12) consecutive months; anda(tump sum payment of t
remaining balance to be paid on the sifitgt (61st) month. $2,000,000 of the principal ambof the Promissory Note is convertible |
shares of restricted common stock at prices ranfgorg $4.00 to $7.50 per share. The parties alsered into a Stock Pledge Agreement
Security Agreement to secure the Promissory Ndte. rEsults of operations of the club are includethe Company consolidated statem
of operations from January 18, 2005.

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 150,00(
Discounted lease 43,02:
Non-compete agreement 100,00(
License 7,481,97:
Net assets acquire $ 7,775,000

The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of
immediate preceding period. Peregrtheperations are for the calendar year 2004. Thdgyma information is not necessarily indicativi
what would have occurred had the acquisition beadaras of such periods, nor is it indicative ofifatresults of operations. The pro fol
amounts give effect to appropriate adjustmentstHerfair value of the assets acquired, amortizatfantangibles and interest expense.
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0. Acquisitions and Dispositions - continued

2005
Revenues $ 15,310,40
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic (638,84)
Net income (loss (495,149
Net income (loss) per sha- basic $ (0.19)

On March 31, 2005, the Company completed the dad@® of its clubs known as ‘Rick’s Soutt® MBG Acquisition LLC for cash $550,0(
In connection with the sale, the Company recordeghia of $291,987. The club’business was accounted for as a discontinuedhtigr
under accounting principles generally acceptedhéUWnited States of America, and therefore, theé’sluesults of operations and cash fl
have been removed from the Company’s consolid&sults of continuing operations and cash flowdlieryear ended September 30, 2005.

On June 10, 2005, the Company’s whallwned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment North Carolilm,., a North Carolina corporation ("R
North Carolina") completed the acquisition of a(®l) square foot nightclub in Charlotte, North Cisnal The name of the club had b
changed from ‘The Manhattan Club’ (5300 Old PineviRoad) to ‘Rick's CabaretThe purchase price of the transaction was $1,00
through the issuance of 180,000 shares of redridenmon stock valued at $675,000 and a sgean-promissory note of $325,000, bea
interest at a rate of 7% per annum. The naturbefestrictions on the shares of common stocklarethe shares were to be registered
the SEC for resale within thirty days after closing of the acdfios. The 180,000 shares were valued at $3.7%pare, which approximat
the average market price within a few days befard after the announcement of the acquisition inostance with EITF No. 992,
Determination of the Measurement Date for the MaFkdéce of Acquirer Securities Issued in a Purch8smsiness Combinatic. The note i
secured by liens upon the assets of and hereafteiirad assets of RCI Entertainment (North Carglihac. The results of operations of
club are included in the Compasyconsolidated statement of operations from FelpriaR005, when the Company assumed risk of lox
the club’s operations under a management agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the note, on or after Nthar 1, 2005, the holder shall have the right,rmitthe obligation to have the Comp.
purchase from the holder 4,285 shares per monthulaged at a price per share equal to $3.75 thél holder has received a tota
$1,000,000 from the sale of the shares less theuaif the note. At the Comparsyelection during any given month, the Company
either buy the monthly shares or, if the Comparmgtsl not to buy the monthly shares from the holthem the holder shall sell the mont
shares in the open market. Any deficiency betwieratnount which the holder receives from the stbe@monthly shares and the valu
the shares shall be paid by the Company withinetl{8) days of the date of sale of the monthly shakaing that particular month. T
Companys obligation to purchase the monthly shares froenhtbider shall terminate and cease at such tintleeasolder has received a t
of $1,000,000 from the sale of the shares, lesartiaunt of the note.
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0. Acquisitions and Dispositions - continued
As of September 30, 2005, the 180,000 shares tfiatesl common stock were classified on the codsdiid balance sheet as tempc
equity in accordance with EITF Topic D-@Blassification and Measurement of Redeemable Ses.riThis obligation was satisfied on V

11, 2006 when all shares had been sold for more$6&5,000.

Proforma results of operations have not been peakids the amounts were not deemed material tooteolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 111,75:
Property & equipment 640,19:
Licenses 455,65¢
Other assets 5,02(
Current liabilities assumed (212,620
Net assets acquire $ 1,000,001

On July 12, 2005, the Company organized RCI Daiagrices, Inc. (“RCI Dating”), which operates asaaldition to the Compang’interne
operations, to acquire CouplesClick.net from Cligkbh LLC (‘ClickMatch™). The Company transferred its ownepsii CouplesTouch.co
to RCI Dating and as a result of the transactiom @ompany obtained an 85% interest in RCI Datinth whe other 15% owned
ClickMatch.

On April 5, 2006, the Comparg’'wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. comtpld the acquisition of real property located a9
Airport Blvd., Houston, Texas where the Companyrently operates Rick’ Sports Cabaret (previously Hummers Sports Bar<ar@ Soutt
clubs). Pursuant to the terms of the agreementmepany paid a total purchase price of $1,300,8@ch consisted of $500,000 in cash
160,000 shares of the Compasmyeéstricted common stock. The purchase price (8001000 was determined to be the fair value ofréa
property based on the nature of the restrictionthefshares issued in the transaction. As patietransaction, the Company agreed to 1
registration statement for the resale of such ictett common stock within 45 days after the closifige registration statement bec:
effective on June 23, 2006. Additionally, nine nfentafter the filing of the registration statemethie Seller has the right, but not
obligation, to have the Company buy the sharespaica of $5.00 per share at a rate of no more 1000 shares per month until such 1
as the Seller receives a total of $800,000 fromstile of such shares. Alternatively, the Sellerthasoption to sell such shares in the ¢
market. As of September 30, 2006, the 160,000 shafaestricted common stock were classified on ¢besolidated balance shee!
temporary equity in accordance with EITF Topic D-@8assification and Measurement of Redeemable SeuriThe transaction was t
result of arms-length negotiations between theigrart

On May 9, 2006, the Company purchased Joint Vestune., an operator of an adult nightclub in Sadtiuston, Texas, formerly known
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HouBled. The purchase price of $840,000 was paidash.In anticipation of thi
acquisition, on April 28, 2006, the Company borrdv825,000 under convertible debentuiidee club, located in a Houston suburb, has
converted to an XTC Cabaret.
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The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation:

Current assets $ 7,72(
Property & equipment 390,00(
Discounted lease 103,54¢
Non-compete agreement 90,00(
License 248,73:
Net assets acquire $ 840,00(

Proforma results of operations have not been pealids the amounts were not deemed material tootheolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

On July 7, 2006, the Company entered into a stagich@se agreement to acquire Texas S&l, Inc., ageorporation, for $125,0(
consisting of $55,000 paid in cash at closing aif,300 in a five year note payable bearing inteatsa rate of 4% per annum. As
September 30, 2006, the note has been fully padad S&l, Inc. owned and operated Club Exotica am 8ntonio. The Company F
converted this club into “Club Onyx--San Antonio”.

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Other assets $ 7,50(
Property & equipment 117,50(
Net assets acquire $ 125,00(

Proforma results of operations have not been pealids the amounts were not deemed material tootheolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

On August 24, 2006, the Compasysubsidiary, RCI Debit Services, Inc., acquire@&9® the ownership interest in an adult entertaimt
cabaret known as “Centerfoldg3cated at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, TeAdslitionally, under the terms of the transactitim
Companys subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. acquired 100%laf interest in the improved real property upon Whienterfolds is located. T
total purchase price for the business and realgstppvas $2,900,000. Under terms of the agreentieaiCompany paid the owners of the «
and property $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory notes for the remainingrizad. In addition, certain members of
current ownership structure entered into five-yaarenants not to compete with the Company.
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The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 22,50(
Property & equipment 2,127,501
Non-compete agreements 250,00(
Goodwill 500,00(
Net assets acquire $ 2,900,001

Proforma results of operations have not been pealids the amounts were not deemed material tootheolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

P. Subsequent Events

On October 4, 2006, the seller of the New York adobverted $75,000 of principal from the relatedmissory note into 10,000 shares of
Company’s common stock.

On October 11, 2006, the Company sold its propeitieWise County for $165,000, which was the vadfiehe properties included in 1
Company’s balance sheet at September 30, 2006rafterding an impairment charge of $68,134 on Sebéz 2006.

On October 12, 2006, the Company purchased a 51%ership interest of Playmates Gentlense@lub LLC, an operator of an ac
nightclub in Austin, Texas. The club is located®&l0 Springdale Street. The purchase price of 81758 was paid $500,000 cash at clo
and 125,000 shares of the Company’s restricted aamstock, valued at $8.27 per share in accordarnteBATF 99412, The club has be
converted to a Rick Austin. As part of the agreement, twelve monfter dhe closing date, the seller has the right,rtmi the obligation, 1
have the Company buy the shares at a price of §&0@hare at a rate of no more than 5,000 shamespnth until such time as the se
receives a total of $1,000,000 from the sale ohsslares. Alternatively, the seller has the optmsell such shares in the open market.
transaction was the result of arms-length negotiatbetween the parties.

In October and November 2006, 137,500 stock optioere exercised by employees of the Company fat psbceeds of $350,531.

In November 2006, a holder of a convertible debentonverted $25,023 of interest owed into 5,268resh of the Company’restricte
common stock.
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P. Subsequent Events - continued

On November 9, 2006, the Company entered into atibledebentures with three shareholders for aggal sum of $600,000. The tern
for two years and the interest rate is 12% per anrit the election of the holders, the holders htheeright to convert (subject to cert
limitations) all or any portion of the principal ammt of the debenture into shares of the Commaogimmon stock at a rate of $7.50 per sl
which was higher than the closing price of the Canys stock on November 9, 2006. The debenture proyatesent shareholder appro
that the number of shares of the Compargdmmon stock that may be issued by the Compaagaurired by the holders upon conversia
the debenture shall not exceed 19.99% of the totaiber of issued and outstanding shares of the @oy'gocommon stock. The proceed:
the debentures were used for the acquisition df%a wnership interest of Playmates Gentlemen’s ClLu®.

On December 5, 2006, the Company foreclosed osidenmgtial house due to ngrayment of a note receivable to an unrelated thardy. The
approximate balance of the note receivable wasO®B85with property taxes owed of approximately $20,0The house has an approxin
appraised value of $90,000. As the amount duelisvael to be collateralized no allowance has beeniged nor is deemed necessary ¢
September 30, 2006.

On December 14, 2006, the Company converted iteRatub in Charlotte, North Carolina into Club OnyCharlotte.




Exhibit 14 Code of Ethics
RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and Senior hancial Officers
l. I ntroduction and Purpose

This Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and iBefinancial Officers (hereinafter referred toths “Code”)helps maintain Ricl
Cabaret International, Inc.’s (hereinafter refertedas the “Company”ytandards of business conduct and ensures compliaitb lega
requirements, specifically, but not limited to, S8ec 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and 3&Es promulgated thereunder.

In addition to securing compliance with legal regments, the purpose of the Code is to deter wmingdand promote ethic
conduct, and full, fair, accurate, timely, and ustiendable disclosure of financial information e tperiodic reports of the Company.
matters covered in this Code are of the utmost tapee to the Company, our stockholders and ounbss partners, and are essential t
ability to conduct our business in accordance withstated values.

Financial executives hold an important and elevatésl in corporate governance and are uniquelyldapand empowered to ens
that stockholders' interests are appropriatelyrizad, protected and preserved. Accordingly, thideGoarovides principles to which financ
executives are expected to adhere and advocats. Thide embodies rules regarding individual and pesponsibilities, as well
responsibilities to the company, the public anceath
. Application

This Code is applicable to the following persorsréinafter referred to as the “Officers”):

1. The Company'’s principal executive officers;

2. The Company'’s principal financial officers;

3. The Company’s principal accounting officer or coligr; and
4. Persons performing similar functions.

[I. Code of Ethics:
Each Officer shall adhere to and advocate thevatig principles and responsibilities governing gssional and ethical conduct:

1. Actwith honesty and integrity, avoiding actualagparent conflicts of interest in personal and gssional relationships.

2. Provide information that is full, fair, accurat@neplete, objective, relevant, timely, and underdédote to the Company’Board o
Directors, the Securities and Exchange CommissienCompany’s stockholders, and the public.

3. Comply with applicable governmental laws, rulesj asgulations.




4. Act in good faith, responsibly, with due care, catgmce and diligence, without misrepresenting riadtéacts or allowing yot
independent judgment to be subordinated.

5. Take all reasonable measures to protect the caniadiéy of nonpublic information about the Company acquired ia tdourse ¢
your work except when authorized or otherwise lggabligated to disclose such information and td nee such confidenti
information for personal advantage.

6. Assure responsible use of and control over alltass®d resources employed or entrusted to you.
7. Promptly report to the Chairman of the Audit Conteet
a. any information you may have regarding any violatd this Code;

b. any actual or apparent conflict of interest betwpersonal and/or professional relationships invmvinanagement or a
other employee with a role in financial reportirigadbsures or internal controls;

c. any information you might have concerning evidemwdea material violation of the securities or otHaws, rules c
regulations applicable to the Company and its djmers;

d. significant deficiencies in the design or operatafrinternal controls that could adversely affdot Companys ability tc
record, process, summarize or report financial;data

e. any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
Company's financial reporting, disclosures or inéticontrols.

(AVA Reporting Procedure, Process and Accountability
As discussed above, Officers shall promptly repast violation of this Code to the Chairman of thenpany’s Audit Committee.

Reports of violations under this Code receivedigy@hairman of the Audit Committee shall be imgtiéd by the Audit Committe
If the Audit Committee finds a violation of this @@, it shall refer the matter to the full BoardDifectors.

In the event of a finding that a violation of tlt®de has occurred, appropriate action shall bent#tkat is reasonably designec
deter wrongdoing and to promote accountabilitygdherence to this Code, and may include writteic@stto the individual involved of t
determination that there has been a violation, wenby the Board, demotion or assignment of the individual involved, suspensiath \or
without pay or benefits, and up to and includirfgappropriate, termination of the individual's emphent. In determining what action
appropriate in a particular case, the Board of @aes (or the independent directors of the Boarthasase may be) shall take into accoul
relevant information, including the nature and sityef the violation, whether the violation wasiamgle occurrence or repeated occurrel
whether the violation appears to have been inteati@r inadvertent, whether the individuals in dices had been advised prior to
violation as to the proper course of action andthereor not the individual in question had comnditteher violations in the past.




V. Anonymous Reporting

Any violation of this Code and any violation by t8empany or its directors or officers of the seesilaws, rules, or regulations,
other laws, rules, or regulations applicable toGeenpany may be reported to the Chairman of theatATmimmittee anonymously.

VI. No Retaliation

It is against the Company’s policy to retaliateaity way against an Officer for good faith reportofgiolations of this Code.
VII. Waiver and Amendment

The Company is committed to continuously reviewargl updating its policies and procedures. Therefhie Code is subject
modification. Any amendment or waiver of any prasisof this Code must be approved in writing by @@mpanys Board of Directors ai
promptly disclosed pursuant to applicable laws @agglilations.
VIII.  Acknowledgment Of Receipt Of Code Of Ethics For Principal Executive And Senior Financial Officers

| have received and read the Company's Code oft&thur Principal Executive and Senior Financial i€fs (the “Code”).l
understand the standards and policies containgti€ode and understand that there may be addifiofieies or laws applicable to my jot
agree to comply with the Code in all respects.

If I have questions concerning the meaning or appibn of the Code, any Company policies, or tigal@and regulatory requireme
applicable to my job, | know that | can consultiwihe Chairman of the Audit Committee, knowing that questions or reports will rem:

confidential to the fullest extent possible.

| understand that my agreement to comply with @osle does not constitute a contract of employment.

Officer Name

Signature

Date

Please sign and return this form to the Companfaitthan of the Audit Committee.




Exhibit 21

Name
Bobby's Novelty, Inc.
Broadstreets Cabaret, Inc.
Citation Land LLC
Joint Ventures, Inc.
Peregrine Enterprises, Inc
RCI Billing, Inc.
RCI Dating Services, Inc.
RCI Debit Services, Inc.
RCI Entertainment (Austin), Inc.
RCI Entertainment (Ft. Worth), Inc.
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (New York), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Inc.
RCI Entertainment Texas, Inc.
RCI Holdings, Inc.

RCI Internet Holding, Inc.

RCI Internet Services, Inc.
Spiros Partners Ltd.

SRD Vending Company
Tantra Dance, Inc.

Tantra Parking, Inc.

Texas S&l, Inc.

Top Shelf LLC

Trumps Inc.

XTC Cabaret, Inc.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

State of Organization
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas

New York
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas

Minnesota

New York

North Carolina
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas

North Carolina
Texas

Texas






EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, Chief Executive Officer and GHiancial Officer of Rick’s Cabaret Internationhic., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10BKS Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coragajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omitade a material fact necess
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisletding with respect to t
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,atimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the small business issuef,zend for, the periods preser
in this report;

4. As Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial @#r, | am responsible for establishing and maiimgirdisclosure controls a
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 183a)Hnd 15d-15(e)) for the small business issudrhave:

@ Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurbs tbesigned und
my supervision, to ensure that material informati@hating to the small business issuer, includitgy donsolidate
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withose entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is beir
prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahcgporting to b
designed under my supervision, to provide reasenabburance regarding the reliability of financigborting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappsges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the small businesiser's disclosure controls and procedures anémiessin this report o
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegpeovered by th
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the smadiess issuer's internal control over financiabrépg that occurred durit
the small business issuer's most recent fiscal tydrhas materially affected, or is reasonablgljiko materially affect, tf
small business issuer's internal control over fomgreporting; and

5. | have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluatfointernal control over financial reporting, the small business issut
independent registered public accounting firm amsl dudit committee of the small business issuescof directors (or persc
performing the equivalent functions):

€)) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controkofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect smeall business issuer's ability to record, pracesmmarize and repi
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significaéatin the sma
business issuer's internal control over finanagbrting.

Date: December 27, 2006 By: /s/ Eric S. Langan
Eric S. Langan
Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial O&r




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick’s Cadtdnternational, Inc. (the "Company") on FormK8B for the year ended September
2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cwsion on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Erid-8nhgan, Chief Executive Officer a
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuargdto® 906 of the Sarban€&sxley Act o
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the reaarrents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securkieshange Act of 1934; and

(2 The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results «
operations of the Company.

Date: December 27, 2006 By: /s/ Eric S. Langan
Eric S. Langan
Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial O&r




